ŕ	AD-A1	48 810	IMF (U)	ROVED	MATER ES AIR	IALS F	IND PRO	DCESSE	S OF D CA EL	ISPEN	ER CA	THODES	1/	2	
	UNCLAS	55IFIE	D AF	AL-TR-	-84-40	72 F33	615-86	0-C-51	91 91	314	F/G 9	9/1	NL.		
			۲												
											<u> </u>				i
		·		i i i i	R		Ű				- 14	21			
								<u> </u>							
		*									<u>ارت</u>				
			1					2							
4															



1 W. C. W. S. Coll Mad. Mad. C. & C. &

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A

ومتعكلاتها يتعلقنا والتعالم اللاماري فالقاعاتها

<u>____</u>

AFWAL-TR-84-4072



IMPROVED MATERIALS AND PROCESSES OF DISPENSER CATHODES

R. T. Longo W. F. Sundquist E. A. Adler

HUGHES AIRCRAFT COMPANY Electron Dynamics Division P.O. Box 2999 Torrance, CA 90509

AUGUST 1984

FINAL REPORT FOR PERIOD 1 APRIL 1980 TO 1 APRIL 1984



NOTICE

When Government drawings, specifications, or other data are used for any purpose other than in connection with a definitely related Government procurement operation, the United States Government thereby incurs no responsibility nor any obligation whatsoever; and the fact that the Government may have formulated, furnished, or in any way supplied the said drawings, specifications, or other data, is not to be regarded by implication or otherwise as in any manner licensing the holder or any other person or corporation, or conveying any rights or permission to manufacture, use, or sell any patented invention that may in any way be related thereto.

This report has been reviewed by the Office of Public Affairs (ASD/PA) and is releasable to the National Technical Information Service (NTIS). At NTIS, it will be available to the general public, including foreign nations.

This technical report has been revised and is approved for publication.

BRUCE C. LAMARTINE Materials Research Engineer Mechanics & Surface Interactions Br

STEPHEN W. TSAI, Chief Mechanics & Surface Interactions Br Nonmetallic Materials Division

FOR THE COMMANDER

IN D. CHERRY.

Nonmetallic Materials Division

"If your address has changed, if you wish to be removed from our mailing list, or if the addressee is no longer employed by your organization please notify AFWAL/MLBM, W-PAFB, Ohio 45433 to help us maintain a current mailing list."

Copies of this report should not be returned unless return is required by security considerations, contractual obligations, or notice on a specific document.

Unclassified

was need in all the state of the total of the state of th

ち

228. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE INDIVIDUAL

Bruce C. Lamartine

DD FORM 1473, 83 APR

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE					
	REPORT DOCUM	ENTATION PAG	E		
18 REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION Unclassified		16. RESTRICTIVE MARKINGS N/A			
24 SECURITY CLASSIFICATION AUTHORITY	3. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY OF REPORT Approved for public release; distribution				
20. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEEN		unlimited.			
4. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUM V-09514	IBER(S)	S. MONITORING OF	GANIZATION RI -4072	EPORT NUMBER(S	3)
64. NAME OF PERFORMING ORGANIZATION Hughes Aircraft Company	6b. OFFICE SYMBOL (If applicable)	Mechanics &	TORING ORGAN Surface I	nteractions	Branch
6c. ADDRESS (City, State and ZIP Code) Electron Dynamics Division 3100 West Lomita Blvd, P.O. E Torrance, CA 90509	Box 2999	76. ADDRESS (City. AFWAL/MLBM WPAFB, OH 4	State and ZIP Coa 45433	le i	
B. NAME OF FUNDING/SPONSORING ORGANIZATION Materials Laboratory	86. OFFICE SYMBOL (11 applicable) AFWAL/MLBM	9. PROCUREMENT	INSTRUMENT ID	ENTIFICATION N	UMBER
Sc. ADDRESS (City, State and ZIP Code)		10. SOURCE OF FUI	NDING NOS.		
Same as 7b.		PROGRAM ELEMENT NO.	PROJECT NO.	TASK NO.	WORK UNIT
11. TITLE (Include Security Classification) Impro Processes of Dispenser Cathodes	oved Materials &	61102F	2303	01	06
12 PERSONAL AUTHORIS) R. T. Longo, W. F. Sundquist, E	. A. Adler				
13. TYPE OF REPORT 13b. TIME (OVERED	14. DATE OF REPOR	RT (Yr., Mo., Day)	15. PAGE C	OUNT
FIND REFORE FROM 15	TO 1904	August 1984		165	·
	18 SUBJECT TERMS	Continue on revetse of n	ecessory and identi	fy hy block number	•1
FIELD GROUP SUB GR	The sector is Fa	viccion Diano	ncon Catho	do	,
09 01	Impregnated (Cathode, M-Typ	e Cathode	Je ,	
19. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse (I necessary and Several process variables affer dispenser cathodes were invest impregnant composition and pur Work function and cathode evan to formulate a model of cathod Results showed that sorted tur billets. Billet porosity was Use of the 4:1:1 aluminate mix 5:3:2 mixture. Under similar emission relative to uncoated life test, the influence of im	d identify by block numbe ecting the final rigated. In par rity, and osmium boration data we de activation and observed to have cture resulted in drawout condition cathodes. In a upregnant sulfur	" electron emis ticular, the -ruthenium coa re used to eva d emission. n be reproduct e the least ef n lower work f ons, the coate ctual Pierce of is clearly st	ssion prone influence o ating were aluate cath ibly fabric ffect on ca functions t ed cathodes gun structu nown to red	rties of imm f billet por studied. ode performa ated into ca thode perfor han did use showed sume res under ac uce cathode	ance and ance and ance. of the erior ccelerated performance
20. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY OF ABSTRA	СТ	21 ABSTRACT SEC	URITY CLASSIFI	CATION	
UNCLASSIFIED/UNLIMITED - SAME AS APT.		Unclassi	ified		

225 TELEPHONE NUMBER Include Area Codes

(513) 255-5892

EDITION OF 1 JAN 73 IS OBSOLETE

Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE

220 OFFICE SYMBOL

AFWAL/MLBM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NORS AND AND AND

Section			Page
1.0	INTR	ODUCTION	
• •			1-1
2.0	BACK	GROUND	2-1
	2.1 2.2	General Review of the Tungsten Dispenser Cathode The Physics and Chemistry of the Tungsten	2-1
	2.3	Dispenser Cathode Transport of the Active Material to the Emitter Surface	2-5
	2.4	Surface Chemistry and Physics	2-8 2-11
3.0	FACI	LITIES AND EQUIPMENT	3-1
	3.1	HEDD Dispenser Cathode Fabrication Facilities	3-1
	3.2	Emission Testing Process Evaluation Tester (PET)	3-1
	3.3	Barium Evaporation Measurements	3-7
4.0	MATE	RIALS AND CATHODE MANUFACTURING	4-1
	4.1	Tungsten Powders	4-1
	4.2	Tungsten Billets	4-12
	4.3	Aluminates and Aluminate Material	4-14
	4.4	M-Coating	4-14
	4.5	Sample Preparation	4-17
	4.6	Cathode Geometry and Identification	4-18
5.0	CATHO	DDE MEASUREMENT	5-1
	5.1	Cathode Activation	5-1
	5.2	Pulsed Cathode Characteristics	5-1
	5.3	Evaluation of Cathode Characteristics	5-6
	5.4	Evaporation Rate Measurements	5-13
6.0	RESUL	TS AND DISCUSSIONS	6-1
	6.1	Workfunction Distribution	6-1
	6.2	Barium Evaporation	6-38
	6.3	Dependence of Workfunction on Evaporation Rate	6-38
	6.4	Effects of Impurities	6-43
7.0	THEOR	ETICAL MODELING OF THE DISPENSER CATHODE	7-1
	7.1	Evaluation of Emission Current	7 0
	7.2	Surface Coverage Workfunction Model	7-2
	7.3	Barium Evaporation Rate	7-15

PREVIOUS PAGE 0



iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

Section			Page
	7.4	Modeling Surface Coverage With Barium Evaporation Rate	7-16
		7.4.1 Geometric Factor	7-17
		7.4.2 Analysis of Data With Surface	
		Coverage Model	7-19
	7.5	Summarizing the Model	7-22
	7.6	Final Remarks	7-24
8.0	CONCL	UDING REMARKS	8-1
	8.1 8.2	Further Work Acknowledgement	8-2 8-2

Appendix

ľ

A	UNIVERSAL THERMIONIC EMISSION CURVE	A-1
В	BARIUM EVAPORATION DATA	B-1

Acce	ssion I	or	
NTIS	GRA&I		M
DIIC	TAB		1
Unan	nounced	1	
Just	ificati	on	
By			
Dist	ributur	···/	
Ava	ilah D	∵ Co	de s
	$\Delta \chi_{\pm}$	· .' e	ur
Dist	E .		
	1	-	
) (A-	'{		
		h	

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

N. **N**.

۰.

.....

Figure		Page
3.1-1	View of the cathode laboratory showing the hydrogen furnace, vacuum furnace and air furnace.	3-2
3.1-2	View of the cathode laboratory showing inspection, analysis and assembly areas.	3-3
3.1-3	High temperature hydrogen furnace for sintering tungsten and aluminum oxide potting material.	3-4
3.1-4	Hydrogen furnace for infiltrating the billets with copper.	3-5
3.2-1	Schematic drawing of the PET test equipment.	3-6
3.2-2	Schematic of the PET with data acquisition system.	3-8
3.2-3	Photograph of the Process Evaluation Tester (PET).	3-9
3.2-4	This photograph shows the inside of the PET vacuum system.	3-10
4.1-1	1500x SEM photomicrographs of (a) U4.5 and (b) U9.5 tungsten powder before classification.	4-4
4.1-2	Distribution of unclassified tungsten powder U4.5.	· 4–5
4.1-3	Distribution of unclassified tungsten powder U9.5.	4-6
4.1-4	1500x SEM photomicrographs of the classified powders.	4-8
4.1-5	Distribution of classified tungsten powder, 5 micron.	4-9
4.1-6	Distribution of classified tungsten powder, ll micron.	4-10
4.2-1	1000x photomicrographs of the (a) 5 micron billet and the (b) 11 micron billet.	4-13
4.4-1	1000x photomicrograph of the M-coating on the (a) cathode made from a 5 micron billet and (b) a cathode made from an 11 micron billet.	4-18
4.4-2	SEM of emitter surface of (a) an uncoated cathode and (b) a coated cathode	4-19

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (CONTINUED)

<u>Figure</u>		Page
4.5-1	(a) Shows the results of a 5 minute water etch, the etch depth is 10 microns. (b) Is the results of a 10 minute water etch, the etch depth is 30 microns.	4-20
4.6-1	Cathode print.	4-22
5.2-1	Digital pulsed curve which shows the typical pulse and postion on the pulse at which the measurements were made.	5-2
5.2-2	Current density-voltage-temperature (^O K) character- istic at cathode-to-anode spacing of 0.22 cm.	5-3
5.2-3	Current density-voltage-temperature (^o K) character- istics at cathode-to-anode spacing of 0.15 cm.	5-4
5.2-4	Current density-voltage-temperature (^O K) character- istics at cathode-to-anode spacing of 0.08 cm.	5-5
5.3-1	Schottky plot of data using equation 1 to fit data.	5-7
5.3-2	Schottky plot of data using equation 1 to fit data.	5-8
5.3-3	Schottky plot of data using equation 1 to fit data.	5 -9
5.3-4	Schottky plot using the Schottky technique to fit the data.	5-10
5.3-5	Schottky plot using the Schottky techniques to fit the data.	5-11
5.3-6	Schottky plot using the Schottky technique to plot the data.	5-12
6.1-1	Single histogram combining all cathode measured in this program.	6-7
6.1-2	All tungsten cathodes.	6-8
6.1-3	All OsRu coated cathodes.	6-9
6.1-4	All S-type, OSRu coated cathodes.	6-10

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (CONTINUED)

Figure		Page
6.1-5	S-type classified OsRu coated.	6-11
6.1-6	S-type unclassified, OsRu coated.	6-12
6.1-7	All B-type OsRu coated.	6-13
6.1-8	B-type classified OsRu coated.	6-14
6.1-9	B-type unclassified OsRu coated.	6-15
6.1-10	All S-type tungsten.	6-16
6.1-11	S-type classified tungsten.	6-17
6.1-12	S-type unclassified tungsten.	6-18
6.1-13	All B-type tungsten.	6-19
6.1-14	B-type classified tungsten.	6-20
6.1-15	B-type unclassified, tungsten.	6-21
6.1-16	B-type 5 micron tungsten.	6-22
6.1-17	B-type 11 micron tungsten.	6-23
6.1-18	S-type 5 micron tungsten.	6-24
6.1-19	S-type 11 micron tungsten.	6-25
6.1-20	B-type 5 micron Osmium: Ruthenium.	6-26
6.1-21	B-type 11 micron Osmium: Ruthenium.	6-27
6.1-22	S-type 5 micron Osmium: Ruthenium.	6-28
6.1-23	S-type 11 micron Osmium: Ruthenium.	6-29
6.1-24	B-type 5 micron unclassified tungsten.	6-30
6.1-25	B-type ll micron unclassified tungsten.	6-31
6.1-26	S-type 5 micron unclassified tungsten.	6-32

vii

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (CONTINUED)

Figure		Page
6.1-27	S-type ll micron unclassified tungsten.	6-33
6.1-28	B-type 5 micron unclassified Osminum: Ruthenium.	6-34
6.1-29	B-type 11 micron unclassified Osimum: Ruthenium.	6-35
6.1-30	S-type 5 micron unclassified Osmium: Ruthenium.	6-36
6.1-31	S-type 11 micron unclassified Osmium: Ruthenium.	6-37
6.3-1	The expected value of the work function vs barium evaporation rate.	6-40
6.3-2	The minimum value of the work function vs barium evaporation rate.	6-41
6.4-1	Histogram of HEDD life tests. The solid line is a gamma function with parameters min = 2.028 ev, expected value = 2.13 ev and standard eviation = 0.004 ev.	6-44
6.4-2	Life test results in a 877HA Pierce gun vehicle.	6-47
7.2-1	Schematic microscopic view of dipole coated surface for different value of the microscopic variable θ .	7-8
7.2-2	Minimum work function vs Γ .	7-13
7.2-3	Average work function $\phi(\theta/\theta_m) vs \theta/\theta_m$.	7-14
7.4-1	Geometry used to calculate the geometric factor.	7-18
7.4.2	Temperature dependence of diffusional surface coverage.	7-21

LIST OF TABLES

Tables		Page
4.1-1	Chemical Analysis By General Electric	4-2
4.1-2	Chemical Test of Tungsten Power (Not included in report.)	4-3
4.1-3	Tungsten Particle Size Calssification	4-7
4.1-4	Powder Identification	4-11
4.2-1	Billets G.E. Power	4-12
4.3-1	Basic Alluminate Component Raw Materials	4-15
4.3-2	Aluminate Mixes	4-15
4.3-3	Sulfur Analysis On Aluminate Lots	4-16
4.6-1	Cathode Identification	4-21
6.1-1	Gamma Distribution Paramaters Obtained By Fit To Work Function Histograms	6-5
6.1-2	Gamma Distribtuicn Parameters Obtained By Fit To Work Function Histograms	6-6
6.2-1	Parameters of Barium Evaporation Measurements	6-39
7.4-1	Summary of Surface Coverage Parameters	7-23
7.4-2	Sticking Times (10 ⁻¹² sec)	7-23

1.0 INTRODUCTION

As the need for higher current density cathodes increases the interest in the dispenser cathode has also increased. The parameters that control the performance of the dispenser cathode are many and to this time have not been thoroughly or systematically studied.

This program was designed to study several of what are believed to be the important process parameters controlling the dispenser cathode's emission characteristics.

The parameters under study are:

- 1. The billet porosity at constant billet density.
- 2. The aluminate, using both the (4:1:1) and the (5:3:2) mixes,
- 3. The surface coating using the uncoated tungsten surface and the osmiun-ruthenium coated surface.

The basic goal of the program was to manufacture and test cathodes which varied in each of the processed parameters listed above. Half of the manufactured cathodes were sent to Wright-Patterson where surface analysis studies are to be carried out. The remaining half were studied in this laboratory. Extensive work function and evaporation measurements were made and are reported here.

The basic expectations of the program are to determine how each of the process parameters affect the initial life emission performance of the cathodes and to model the performance of the cathodes to the extent possible with the data available at the conclusion of the work at this laboratory. It is clear that a complete physical model cannot be undertaken with just the work function and evaporation data. The results of the detailed surface study must be obtained to successfully complete the modeling task.

We shall develop however, some empirical modeling ideas that have interested us for some time and attempt to evaluate our data against these ideas. The reader must fully understand that these models are not to be taken too seriously at this point, at least until more fundamental data can be obtained to substantiate them.

This work, we believe, has succeeded with its basic goals. The data does reveal a systematic and quite reasonable result. The coated cathodes clearly exhibit superior performance, as was fully expected. The aluminate type was clearly the next most sensitive parameter, the (4:1:1) having a considerable lower work function than did the (5:3:2) type aluminate. The billet porosity had the least effect, not affecting the work function at all, and having only a small effect on the evaporation rate.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 GENERAL REVIEW OF THE TUNGSTEN DISPENSER CATHODE

The first cathode of technological importance under the classification of dispenser cathode is the tungsten dispenser cathode developed by Lemmens et. al.¹ The L-type cathode (1950) has been used since that time and is still in use today. The L-type cathode is constructed by using a thin, porous matrix to seal a reservoir of the active Ba carbonate. The activation processes generate free Ba and BaO which transport from the reservoir through the porous tungsten matrix emerging onto the emitter surface. In principle, the reservoir can be made large enough to obtain very long life from this cathode. In practice, there may be limitations due to the chemical reaction products that form in the reaction reservoir. These reaction products tend to impede the reaction, thus slowing down the generation of Ba and BaO. Research on the L-type cathode continues, the latest version called the controlled porosity cathode (CPD).² This variation is effectively the same as the earlier L-type except it replaces the porous tungsten plug with a thin tungsten foil having a uniform array of laser drilled holes. The main reason for this design is to improve the uniformity of emission and to control the flow rate of active components to the emitter surface. Using the technology provided by laser drilling, in principle one can design the most efficient dispensing surface. The reported results on the CPD are very promising. It is clear that the L-type construction is an important development in the technology of cathodes based on its use and continued development.

One of the difficulties usually encountered with the L-type of cathode is in obtaining a vapor tight enclosure for the reservoir, which is necessary to assure that the Ba and BaO emerges through the pores onto the emitter surface. Ba carbonate use in the reservoir usually takes considerable activation time since the carbonates must be reduced within the reservoir and the gaseous product pumped away through the restrictive porous plug. The conversion of the carbonates is very temperature sensitive. Hughes et al³ showed that when the temperature is too high, unwanted reactions occur which tie up the Ba in the form of BaWO₆. At low temperatures, the time for activation is

restrictive. Actually, there is a very narrow usable range of temperatures for the activation of this L-type cathode. The use of preconverted carbonates, as in the new CPD type, speeds up the activation substantially.

To overcome fabrication difficulties created by the need for a vapor tight reservoir, Levi⁴ developed the impregnated tungsten dispenser cathode. The first of these cathodes was called the A-type cathode and consisted of a porous plug of tungsten filled with a Ba-Al oxide. The impregnation of the porous plug is usually accomplished in an atmosphere of hydrogen.

Comparing emission characteristics of the A-type and the L-type cathode shows that the A-type has about 5 times lower emission than does the L-type cathode. The reason for this reduction is not fully understood. One of the big manufacturing differences is that the Ba-aluminate must be melted in the presence of tungsten to affect the impregnation.

The impregnated dispenser cathode is very reliable and is becoming very popular among users. The reliability and life of this cathode are becoming quite acceptable even for use in space where long life is expected.

The A-type dispenser cathode was followed by the B-type dispenser cathode. Levi⁵ found that emission could be considerably improved by adding calcium oxide to the barium and aluminum oxide of the A-type. The B-type is generally known by the molar ratio of its aluminate (5:3:2) - representing 5 moles of BaO, 3 moles of CaO, and 2 moles of A1₂O₃. A number of other aluminate mixes have evolved and become popular. The S-type which was introduced by Semicon, Inc. has a (4:1:1) molar ratio. Although many different ratios have been used, only two, the B-type (5:3:2) and S-type (4:1:1), have special names.

Efforts to improve and optimize the Ba-Ca-Aluminate led Zalm and van Stratum^o to deposit osmium over the tungsten surface of a finished tungsten dispenser cathode. The resulting cathode is generally known as the M-type or metal coated cathode and operates about 100 K cooler than does the uncoated cathode. Presently, ruthenium is added to the osmium primarily to improve its stability

to atmospheric exposure and to reduce the toxic properties of Os for improved handling. The physics of the surface work function are not yet fully understood. There have been suggestions (cf Green)⁷ that the real effect of the Os or Os-Ru is to increase the dwell time of the activation material on the surface, thus increasing the surface coverage. The M-type cathodes have excellent properties in general, but they do suffer from a tendency to peel if the coating is not applied under exacting conditions. This, however, is not a fundamental problem and can be overcome by careful attention to processing details. A fundamental effect that is observed, however, is the diffusion of the layer with the tungsten substrate. This diffusion, it is suggested by Tuck⁸, has a beneficial effect on the emission until an optimum W-Os alloy, the phase, is reached. The observed emission of this cathode increases with time. As the relative surface concentration of tungsten increases, the cathode is expected to revert to the uncoated properties. Relatively recently, the so-called mixed metal matrix dispenser cathode has appeared (cf Falce)⁹ and shows great promise as a high current density, long life dispenser cathode. The mixed metal cathode, instead of overcoating the emitter surface, mixes a percentage of powders of other materials -Ir, Os or Re -into the tungsten powder before the matrix is pressed. The work function and the operating temperature of the mixed metal cathode are reduced by an amount comparable to the M-type cathode of similar material.

The physics of the emitter surface is generally believed to be a surface layer dipole over the tungsten surface. The precise nature of the dipole is in question although numerous experiments are consistent with a tungsten-oxygen-barium hypothesis.

There has been some controversy as to the thickness of the surface dipole layer on the emitter surface. Both thin monolayer films as well as thick semiconducting films have been hypothesized (cf Beck and Ahmed).¹⁰ Recent experiments using AES by Forman¹¹ and independently by Green¹² have shown the dipole surface coverage to be monolayer or less.

With the advent of satellited communication systems, cathode life has become a very important technological consideration. Until 1977, it was believed by most specialists that the dispenser cathode would perform with a steady current (while operating space charge limited) until the barium supply was exhausted, whereupon the cathode current would decrease suddenly.

Forman¹³ found that with synthesized dispenser cathode surfaces, the surface coverage decreased with time. Rittner¹⁴ suggests that his results showed that the current would remain constant with time. Longo¹⁵ found in accelerated life tests on tungsten dispenser cathodes, that the current decreased with time even though the devices (Pierce¹⁶ gun electrostatically focused triodes) were operated well into the space charge limited region. A physical model that relates the current degradation to the decrease in surface coverage was developed. The model described the accelerated life tests quite well. The model developed by Longo supports Forman's observations of time dependent surface coverage. The discrepancy between the different observations was linked to the close spaced parallel plate diode, which had been the standard test vehicle up to that time.

Life tests of various dispenser cathodes had also been underway at Watkins-Johnson since 1971, sponsored by NASA under the direction of Forman.¹⁷ These life tests showed the same degradation effects as did the Hughes accelerated life tests.

Since then, others have reported similar behavior in dispenser cathodes. Shroff and Palluel¹⁸ reported on their extensive work with B, S and M-type cathodes as well as with mixed metal cathcdes. They reported that the degradation followed the same $t^{-1/2}$ functional behavior as reported by Longo.

At present, it is widely accepted that the degradation observed in the tungsten dispenser cathode is a universal effect. This effect must be considered in the design of systems using the dispenser cathodes.

2.2 THE PHYSICS AND CHEMISTRY OF THE TUNGSTEN DISPENSER CATHODE

In general, the physics and chemistry of the dispenser cathode is considerably simpler than that of the oxide coated cathode. There, we were faced with the problem of distinguishing between surface and bulk properties, but with the dispenser cathode we must be concerned with: 1) the generation and the transport of the active material to the emitter surface; 2) the physical properties of the emitter surface, both the coverage of the active material and the metal coating that might be applied; and 3) changes that occur with time in both the surface coverage of active material and the metal coatings, and in the generation and transport of active material to the surface.

The L-type cathode contains a reservoir of active material sealed behind the porous plug of tungsten. The active material is generally a combination of $BaCO_3$, $SrCO_3$ and/or $CaCO_3$. The first thing that must be considered with this type of cathode is the conversion of the starting carbonates into the oxides. Rutledge and Rittner, ¹⁹ in their analysis of the L-type cathode, discuss the different reactions that can occur during the conversion of the carbonate to the oxide. The desired reaction is

$$BaCO_3 \rightarrow BaO + CO_2 (gas)$$
 (2.2-1)

Occurring below 1,010°C, this reaction usually takes considerable time to convert and outgas the structure. When attempts are made to reduce the conversion time by boosting the conversion temperature, a second reaction

$$3BaCO_3 + W + Ba_3WO_6 + 2CO$$
 (2.2-2)

dominates the process. This reaction dominates according to Rutledge and Rittner at 1,010[°]C and above, and is totally undesirable, tying up the Ba and preventing its release. Once the carbonates are all removed and the cathode is placed into operation, the chemical processes that occur are of the basic type

$$6BaO + W + Ba_3WO_6 + 3 Ba$$
 (2.2-3)

It is seen that the same barium tungstate products are formed in both the normal barium generating process and in the undesirable carbonate reaction. Finally, Rutledge and Rittner suggested the barium tungstate Ba_3WO_6 reduces via the reaction

$$2Ba_{3}WO_{6} + W \rightarrow 3BaWO_{1} + 3Ba \qquad (2.2-4)$$

Rutledge and Rittner see the life limiting mechanism to be the onset of reaction 2.2-4 because, they suggest, this reaction releases an oxygen bearing poisoning agent. The evaporation rate of Ba coming from reaction 2.2-3 is about 1/2 the vaporation rate generated by reaction 2.2-4. This suggests that as long as reaction 2.2-3 predominates, the product Ba_3WO_6 will build up. Both Ba and BaO should be evaporated from the cathode. Thermodynamic calculations show that the ratio of the vapor pressure of Ba to that of BaO should be 6.1 at 1,483 K. Experimentally, considerably more BaO is observed than is prediced from these calculations. The argument used to account for this difference is that Ba is oxidized as it passes through the matrix.

In the impregnated tungsten dispenser cathode, predominately the same reactions take place, with the exception of the carbonate reaction. In general, the carbonate reactions are processed out before the porous matrix is impregnated. The barium-calcium-aluminate is usually mixed from the barium calcium carbonates along with aluminum oxide powder then calcined by firing in a dry air atmosphere to reduce the carbonates to the oxide form. The impregnation of the porous matrix usually takes place at temperatures slightly above the melting point of the barium-calcium-aluminate mix. At those temperatures, the reactions that take place with the tungsten matrix proceed at high rates. This requires that the impregnation process takes place as fast as possible spending a minimum of time at the high temperature.

The basic chemical reaction that is thought to occur during the operation of the impregnated dispenser cathode (neglecting calcium for this discussion) is

$$2Ba_{3}Al_{2}O_{6} + W + BaWO_{4} + 2BaAl_{2}O_{4} + 3Ba$$
. (2.2-5)

Rittner²⁰ et al measured by weight the total Ba produced from a tungsten matrix containing 5 BaO:2 Al₂O₃. The results suggested that reaction 2.2-5 with the product BaWO₄ predominates over reaction 2.2-3 with the product Ba₃WO₆. The full reaction equation for the B-type (5:3:2) is thought to take the form (cf Palluel and Schroff)²¹ to be

5Ba0, 3Ca0,
$$2AL_{2}O_{3} + W \neq 2BaAl_{2}O_{4} + \frac{3}{4}Ca_{2}BaWO_{6}$$

+ $\frac{1}{4}Ca_{3}WO_{6} + \frac{9}{4}Ba + \frac{3}{4}Ca$. (2.2-6)

The degree to which this reaction goes to completion depends upon many conditions that are not fully understood or fully controlled. The details of the complete ternary phase diagram play a very important part in the overall control of reaction 2.2-6. The ternary system is not well known. Wolten²² compiled enough information from the literature to construct a slice through the ternary system at $1,250^{\circ}$ C.

Does the aluminate mix of a given ternary composition remain at its original composition point after impregnation or do reactions with the matrix during the impregnation process change the impregnant composition? For example, at the impregnation temperature of 1,600 to $1,700^{\circ}$ C, if Ca₃WO₆ occurs at a higher

rate than Ca₃BaWO₆, the concentration of the calcium should change with depth into the matrix. These questions are as yet unanswered and could play an important part in the life and reliability of these devices.

As far as the bulk chemical reactions are concerned, we would not expect any differences for the M-type impregnated cathode, since the metal coating on the tungsten matrix is very thin (order of 1 micrometer). Except for very early in the cathode life, we would expect the same chemical reactions and rate to apply to the M-type as does for the B-type (assuming the same aluminate mix composition). The evaporation rate differences between the M- and B-type must be related to the effective binding of the Ba and BaO on the surface. The mixed metal matrix cathode, on the other hand, should be expected to provide different chemical reactions and reaction rates throughout its life, since the additive material (e.g., Ir, Os or Re) is dispersed throughout the matrix and must enter into the chemical reactions. The evaporation rate of Ba and BaO from the mixed metal cathode will be controlled by both the reaction rate and the change in binding energy of the atoms to the emitter surface. Since the mixed metal cathode is relatively new, there is very little information on this topic either experimentally or theoretically.

2.3 TRANSPORT OF THE ACTIVE MATERIAL TO THE EMITTER SURFACE

In the dispenser cathode, there are two possible mechanisms by which the active material can be transported to the emitter surface. The first is Knudsen flow, which describes the flow of a gas when the mean free path of the gas is large compared to the size of the confining vessel – in this case, the pores of the tungsten plug. The second possible mechanism is surface migration of the active material along the interior walls of the pores until the emitter surface is reached. Rutledge and Rittner²³ suggest that because of the very good coverage of barium that is observed for the L-type cathode, there would be very little concentration gradient of surface atoms through the porous plug, thus suggesting that Knudsen flow dominates the transport processes. The Knudsen flow through a porous plug is given by Rutledge and Rittner by the relationship

$$\frac{dm}{dt} = -\frac{\alpha A M^{1/2}}{N(2\pi m kT)^{1/2}} P , \qquad (2.3-1)$$

where m is the mass flow through the plug, P is the active material pressure, A is the area of the sample, N is Avogadro's number, M is the molecular weight, and was determined experimentally for different porosities. In general, the transmission coefficient, α , increases with increasing porosity as expected. Using the experimentally determined transmission coefficient and vapor pressure data for barium in the cavity, the evaporation rate dm/dt can be calculated and compared to the measured evaporation rate data. The results found by Rutledge and Rittner correlated exceptionally well, confirming for them that Knudsen flow dominates the transport process for the L-type cathode at least.

Brodie and Jenkin²⁴, in their work on the evaporation rate of Ba from the L-type cathode, conclude that there are two competing mechanisms controlling the transport of barium. The rate of reaction controls the evaporation when the plug is very porous, according to this work. As the porosity decreases, Knudsen flow dominates the transport. These two mechanisms become even more important in impregnated dispenser cathodes; the generation of active material, barium in our case, is more strongly coupled to the transport of the material. Rittner, Rutledge and Ahlert²⁵ suggest that Knudsen flow dominates the transport, leading them to envision a "receding surface" or reaction zone moving deeper into the porous matrix with time. The Knudsen flow model that they use is

$$\frac{dm}{dt} = K_1 \left(\frac{r}{L}\right) \sqrt{\frac{M}{T}} P , \qquad (2.3-2)$$

where r is the effective radius of the pores and L the effective pore length which becomes clogged with time. In equation (2.3-2), K_1 is a constant, P the

vapor pressure of Ba, M the molecular weight of the evaporant gas, and T the temperature of the cathode.

The receding surface of the reaction zone is introduced into the simple model by assuming that the length of the pores (L) is proportional to the amount of mass evaporated up to time t i.e.,

いたい 言い ちちちち 日

$$\mathbf{m} = \mathbf{K}_{2}\mathbf{L} \tag{2.3-3}$$

where K_2 is a proportionally constant. Combining Eqs. (2.3-2) and (2.3-3), it can easily be shown that

$$\frac{dm}{dt} = \sqrt{\frac{K_3}{2t}} . \qquad (2.3-4)$$

The expected boundary conditions were not discussed by Rittner et al. Clearly we expect dm/dt to be finite when t = 0. Eq. (2.3-4) is shown to be consistent with evaporation experiments. Experiments of evaporation rate with pellet thickness suggested to Brodie and Jenkin²⁴ that the reaction generating barium is taking place uniformly throughout the impregnated matrix. They suggest that barium leaves the reaction sites freely, and migrate along the interface between the impregnate and the tungsten powder walls. They suggest that this migration, and not Knudsen flow, controls the transport of the barium. Brodie and Jenkin do not discuss the time dependence of the evaporation rate. In fact, their measurements were made only at the beginning of life. The time dependence of the mechanism suggested by Brodie and Jenkin could, however, yield a functional behavior as is observed, if the products of the reactions are relatively immobile. Rittner²⁶ solved the appropriate diffusion equation in this case for the interface layer growth of the oxide cathode and showed that an interface layer would grow with a thickness that would depend on time **a** 8

$$a = a_0 \sqrt{1 + \beta t}$$
 (2.3-5)

where β depends on the diffusion coefficient and the surface concentration. The main component of the chemical reaction would then have to diffuse through this growing layer before reacting. Thus, the pressure and, in turn, the evolved mass would depend upon 1/a, and the same functional form in time is observed.

Palluel and Shroff²⁷ recently reported observing a gradient of barium and calcium on fractured pellets using electron microprobe analysis. The depletion depth of barium versus operating hours has a square root of time dependence. The depletion depth of calcium has a $t^{-1/3}$ dependence which cannot be easily explained. The observation of the depletion depth or a concentration gradient across the porous pellet in the impregnated cathode case points to Knudsen flow dominance depending upon the details of the matrix and impregnate system. Clearly, if the barium freed by chemical reaction with the walls of the pores is not readily removed, the concentration of barium will build up driving the reaction in the reverse direction and causing no net effect. In that case, there will be a net effect only near the surface where the pressure of barium drops sufficiently for the reaction to proceed in the forward direction. This narrow volume near the surface will then become depleted first, causing the effect of a receding surface as envisioned for the Knudsen flow arguments. The discrepancy between the two experiments might very well be in the difficulty of controlling the porous matrix and the impregnation process.

2.4 SURFACE CHEMISTRY AND PHYSICS

Once the active material reaches the emitter surface, the processes that are responsible for the lowering of the work function begin. The exact nature of the surface dipoles and the interaction with the substrate surface has been subject of investigation for many years. Until recently, the experimental evidence has been deductive (cf Wagener²⁸ for a discussion of the earlier

works), with the advent of surface analysis tools the atomic nature of the surface is more directly observable. Many of the deductive results of earlier experiments are being shown to be true with these new tools.

There is much evidence to support the hypothesis that the surface dipoles for the tungsten dispenser cathode are barium on oxygen on tungsten. There remains much not understood about the precise nature of the surface dipoles on an atomic level. The role of calcium, for example, is not thoroughly understood. Ba forms a dipole with oxygen on tungsten, but the nature of the bonding and sharing of electrons between the Ba, the oxygen and the substrate metal remains unknown. Green²⁹ has recently speculated on the nature of the bonds. There is, however, overwhelming direct and indirect evidence that barium and oxygen are in a one-to-one correspondence on the surface. Springer and Haas³⁰ have observed, using AES, barium to oxygen ratio that is one to one on the active cathode if corrections are made for the escape depth of the Auger electrons with barium over oxygen. Maloney et al³¹ also observed the one to one correspondence of barium to oxygen on the tungsten surface of a fully activated cathode. The same one to one correspondence in a fully activated cathode is observed by Green.³² Eng³³ has made similar observations using AES. There seems little doubt that the dipole responsible for the emission properties of the tungsten barium aluminate dispenser cathode is formed by barium on oxygen on tungsten. These observations, however, are not without discrepancy. Jones et al³⁴ observed with AES a considerably different Ba/O ratio of about 0.3 for various dispenser types (3:1:1), (4:1:1) and (5:3:2) for tungsten surfaces as well as for typical M-type dispenser cathodes.

It is well known that considerable improvements in the emission levels can be obtained if calcium is added to the barium aluminate mixture. The exact nature of the calcium effect is not known. Early speculations (cf Brodie and Jenkins³⁵) suggest that the addition of calcium causes the pores to become more emissive, effectively increasing the emitting area. Other suggestions are that calcium regulates the release of barium in the pores.

It is curious that calcium is not observed on the emitter surface of a well activated dispenser cathode. Attempts to find calcium even in the pores have

failed. The disappearance of calcium upon activation has been observed by numerous investigators. Among those reporting this effect are Springer and Haas³⁶ using a 0.5 mm beam size AES, Sickafus³⁷ et al using a 0.1 micrometer beam size AES system, and Jones et al³⁸ and Forman.³⁹

Sickafus et al have specifically searched for the missing calcium, using their relatively small beam size AES system to look into the pores, and have reported finding no calcium. They do find calcium deep in the matrix when the porous plug is fractured (the case reported was for a 22,000 hour cathode). This observation suggests that a gradient of calcium should be observed across a fractured cathode that has been used for some time. Palluel and Shroff⁴⁰ have observed a gradient for both barium and calcium.

REFERENCE LIST

1. Lemmens, H. J., U.S. Patent 2,543,728, 1948.
2. Falce, L. R., Tri Service Cathode Workshop, 1978.
3. Hughes, R. C., U.S. Patent 2,700,118, 1951.
4. Levi, R. J., Appl. Phys., <u>26</u> , 639, 1955.
5. Levi, R., op cit, 1955.
6. Zalm, P.; Van Strutem, A. J. A., Phillips Tech. Rev, <u>27</u> , p. 69, 1966.
7. Green, M., <u>RADC</u> TR-81-211 Report, 1981.
8. Tuck, R., Jr. Services Cathode Workshop, 1979.
9. Falce, L. R., Tri Services Cathode Workshop, 1978.
10. Beck, A. H. W.; Ahmed H., J. Elect. Cont., <u>14</u> , p. 623, 1963.
11. Forman, R., J. Appl. Physics <u>47</u> , p. 5272, 1976. Forman, R., IEEE Trans. Elec. Dev., <u>24</u> , p. 56, 1977. Forman, R., Appl. Surf. Sci., <u>2</u> , p. 258, 1979.
12. Green, M., op cit, 1981.
13. Forman, R., op cit, 1979.
34. Rittner, J. Appl. Physics, <u>48</u> , p. 4344, 1977.
15. Longo, R. T., IEDM, p. 152, 1978.
16. Pierce, J. R., <u>Theory and Design of Electron Beams</u> , D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., 1954.

- 17. Forman, R., IEEE Trans. Elect. Dev., <u>26</u>, p. 1567, 1979.
- 18. Palluel, P. and Shroff, A., J. Appl. Physics, <u>51</u>, p. 2894, 1979.
- 19. Rutledge, W. C. and Rittner, E. S., J. Appl. Physics, <u>28</u>, pp. 157, 167, 1957.
- 20. Rittner, E. S., J. Appl Physics, <u>28</u>, p. 1468, 1957.
- 21. Palluel, P. and Shroff, A., opt cit, 1979.

- 22. Wolten, G. M. Aerospace Corp., Report SD-TR-80-67.
- 23. Rutledge, W. C. and Rittner, E. S., op cit, 1957.
- Brodie, I. and Jenkin, R. O., Brit. J. Appl. Physics, <u>8</u>, p. 27, 1957.
 Brodie, I. and Jenkin, J. Electr., p. 457, 1956.
 Brodie, I. and Jenkin, J. Electr., p. 33, 1957.
- Rittner, E. S. and Rutledge, W. C. Alert, J. Appl. Physics, <u>28</u>, p. 1468, 1957.
- 26. Rittner, F. S., Philips, Res. Rep., 8, p. 184, 1953.

27. Palluel, P. and Shroff, A., op cit, 1980.

- 28. Wagener, S., <u>The Oxide Coated Cathode</u>, Vols. I and II, Chapman and Hall Ltd., 1951.
- 29. Green, M., op cit, 1981.
- 30. Springer, R. W. and Haas, T. W., J. Appl. Physics, 45, p. 5260, 1974.

31. Maloney, E. D., MSN, 119, 1979.

- 32. Green, M., op cit, 1981.
- 33. Eng, G., Rep. SD-TR-81-35, 1981.
- 34. Jones, D., Appl. Surf Sci., 2, p. 232, 1979.
- 35. Brodie, I. and Jenkin, R. O., op cit, 1957.
- 36. Springer, R. W. and Haas, G. A., J. Appl. Physics, <u>45</u>, p. 5260, 1974.
- 37. Sickafus, E. N., Appl. Surf. Sci., 2, p. 213, 1979.
- 38. Jones, D., op cit, 1979.
- 39. Forman, R., J. Appl. Physics, <u>47</u>, p. 5272, 1976.
- 40. Palluel, P. and Shroff, A., op cit, 1980.

3.0 FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT

3.1 HEDD DISPENSER CATHODE FABRICATION FACILITIES

HEDD has a modern, well equipped, dispenser cathodes manufacturing facility to fabricate dispenser cathodes from the raw materials. The heart of the facility is the system of three major furnaces, dedicated for cathode fabrication, shown in Figure 3.1-1. At the left in Figure 3.1-1 is the hydrogen fast cycle impregnation furnace. In the center is a high temperature vacuum furnace used to remove copper from the tungsten billet.

At the right, in Figure 3.1-1, an air furnace is shown. This furnace is used to prepare the active barium-calcium-aluminates from the barium, carbonates, calcium carbonate and aluminum oxide. Figure 3.1-2 is a view of the cathode laboratory showing inspection, analysis and assembly areas.

Tungsten billets, prepared from tungsten powder using standard techniques are sintered and copper infiltrated in the furnaces shown in Figure 3.1-3 and Figure 3.1-4, respectively. Figure 3.1-3 is a high temperature hydrogen furnace capable of 3,000°C. Figure 3.1-4 is a hydrogen tube furnace used to infiltrate the billets with copper.

An isostatic press is used to press tungsten powders to form the tungsten billets, and various other support equipment which are not shown make up the complete cathode fabrication facility. Part of this equipment includes sputtering facilities used to deposit the osmium/ruthenium films required in the fabrication of "M" type cathodes.

3.2 EMISSION TESTING PROCESS EVALUATION TESTER (PET)

The Process Evaluation Tester (PET) is a multiple cathode test vehicle which has been designed to yield relatively rapid information about the emission properties of cathodes.

Figure 3.2-1 is an overall assembly drawing of the PET system. The cathode coupons are inserted in the fixture on the left and then the entire multicathode test fixture is inserted into the vacuum system. Figure 3.2-2 is



Ŀ

Figure 3.1-1 View of the cathode laboratory showing the hydrogen furnace, vacuum furnace and air furnace.

والمحاج والمحا



Figure 3.1-2 View of the cathode laboratory showing inspection, analysis and assembly areas.

1.0



1

Figure 3.1-3 High temperature hydrogen furnace for sintering tungsten and aluminum oxide potting material.



ſ

Figure 3.1-4 Hydrogen furnace for infiltrating the tungsten billets with copper.


a schematic drawing of the interface of the multicathode test fixture with a HP 3052A data acquisition system. The computer will control all operation of the PET, acquire the data on each cathode sequentially, process the data, and present the data in a usable form, both printed and plotted.

Figure 3.2-3 is a photograph of the complete system. On the left is the computer and data acquisition system with associated electronics. At the right is the mass spectrometer electronics. In the center is the vacuum system, which has 3-axis micromanipulator capability for the anode and the mass spectrometer head at the top. Figure 3.2-4 is a photograph of the inside of the vacuum system. This photograph shows only one cathode assembly; however, stations for five (5) others can be seen. The cathode and anode in the PET form a parallel plate diode.

The temperature of the cathodes was measured optically through a sapphire window in the face plate. There is a blackbody hole in the side of the cathode coupon to reduce the effects of emissivity. The temperature accuracy is near 0.5%, after window corrections are taken into account.

3.3 BARIUM EVAPORATION MEASUREMENTS

Barium evaporation rate measurements were measured in a separate vacuum system. These measurements are made by exposing a hot tantalum wire to the barium compounds streaming through an aperture from the cathode and measuring the emission current from the wire. This wire emission current rises to a peak as the barium coating passes through a monolayer.





Figure 3.2-2

• • • • • •

ĺ

;

ľ

Schematic of the PET with data acquisition system.





Ì

E 2599





Figure 3.2-4 This photograph shows the inside of the PET vacuum system. Only one cathode assembly is shown in the photograph.

4.0 MATERIALS AND CATHODE MANUFACTURING

All of the materials used in this program, with the exception of the Osmium-Ruthenium sputter target, were purchased specifically for this program. The cathodes that were manufactured, tested and shipped to Wright-Patterson were all made from these special materials.

4.1 TUNGSTEN POWDERS

The tungsten powders were purchased in two lots from General Electric. Lot No. U4.5-8100D was a 25 kgm lot of powder centered on 4.5 <u>micrometer</u> particle size. Lot No. U9.5-7833D was also a 25 kgm lot of powder with particle size centered on 9.5 micrometers. The tungsten powders were analyzed by General Electric and are reported in Table 4.1-1. The raw powders as received by Hughes were reanalyzed chemically. The results of those tests are shown in Table 4.1-2. Figure 4.1-1a and b are Scanning Electron photomicrographs (SEM) of the as received powders. The as received particle distributions are shown in Figure 4.1-2 and 4.1-3.

The tungsten powder lots were then sent to Vortex for particle size classification. Table 4.1-3 shows the results of this process. In order to assure cleanliness of the particle separator a 3 kgm lot of tungsten powder was supplied as a clean up lot. This lot (which was not part of the material purchased for this program) was run through the separator before the program lots were run.

Element*	(ppm) Lot # U4.5	(ppm) Lot # U9.5
Мо	87	410
Fe	31	18
Cr	9	3
Ni	17	6
Al	3	-
Sn	3	-
0	419	176

CHEMICAL ANALYSIS BY GENERAL ELECTRIC

1

*Other elements tested for but not found were Ca, Si, Su, Mn, Mg, C

TABLE 4.1-2

1

N

Element ^(a)	Lot # U4.5 Weight Percent	Lot # U9.5 Weight Percent
Мо	-	.01 ± .001
Fe	.011 ± .001	.01 ± .001
Ca	.001	.002
с	.002 ± .001	.003 ± .001

CHEMICAL TEST OF TUNGSTEN POWDER

(a) Other elements tested for but not found were Al, Sb, As, Ba, Be, Bi, B, Cd, Cr, Co, Cu, Ga, Ge, ln, Pb, Mg, Mn, Hg, Ni, P, Si, Ag, Sr, Sn, Ti, V, Zn, Zr, Na, Cs, Li, K, Rb



.

(a)



(b)

Figure 4.1-1 1500x SEM photomicrographs of (a) U4.5 and (b) U9.5 tungsten powder before classification.

...

÷



Distribution of unclassified tungsten powder U4.5. Figure 4.1-2

. .

۰.

.



Figure 4.1-3 Distribution of unclassified tungsten powder U9.5.

.

Lot #	Partial Size Range (micron)	% of Total Material
U4.5	0-4 4-6 >6	51.5 32 16.5
U9.5	0-10 10-12 >12	43 27 30

TABLE 4.1-3

TUNGSTEN PARTICLE SIZE CLASSIFICATION

Figure 4.1-4a and b are Scanning Electron photomicrographs (SEM) of the classified powders. The corresponding distribution for the classified powders are shown in Figures 4.1-5 and 4.1-6. Table 4.1-4 gives the identification of the powders that will be used throughout the remainder of this report. The unclassified powders were actually remixed in the percentages stated in Table 4.1-3.



(a)



(Ь)







Figure 4.1-6 Distribution of classified tungsten powder, 11 micron.

. .

e.

.

	TA	BL	Æ	4.	1	-4
--	----	----	---	----	---	----

POWDER IDENTIFICATION

Classified	Unclassified
5	50
11	110

۰.

1.1

.

•

٠.

4.2 TUNGSTEN BILLETS

After the tungsten powders were prepared as discussed in section 4.1, the powders were isostatically pressed and sintered in a H_2 atmosphere to a theoretical density of 80 plus or minus 2%. Table 4.2-1 gives the billet identifications the powder used and the billet density. The billets were then infiltrated with copper under a H_2 atmosphere and machined into rods. Cross sections of the 5 and 11 billets are shown in Figure 4.2-1. These billets were then machined into the cathode which will be discussed in a later section.

TABLE 4.2-1 BILLETS G.E. POWER

Billet Ident	Powder	Density
9C-62	5	81.2 ± 0.8
10C-63	11	79.4 ± .3
9 A-6 5	50	79.7
10A-64	110	81.2



.

(b)

Figure 4.2-1 1000x photomicrographs of the (a) 5 micron billet and the (b) 11 micron billet.

4.3 ALUMINATES AND ALUMINATE MATERIAL

The aluminate materials $(Al_2O_3, BaCO_3 and CaCO_3)$ were obtained from Atomergic Chemicals. The Atomergic material specification is given in Table 4.3.1.

The aluminate materials were blended into two lots, lot No. 12 with a (5:3:2) molar ratio of $(Ba0:Ca0:Al_2O_3)$ and lot No. 13 with (4:1:1) molar ratio. Table 4.3-2 gives the details of the blended powders before calcining. Samples of each of the individual powders (i.e. before mixing and blending) were sent to Wright-Patterson for analysis.

Atomergic could only supply the $BaCO_3$ and the $CaCO_3$ in powder sizes of -100 mesh. Previous experience with large grain size material (i.e. Al_2O_3) indicated a problem with thorough reaction into the final aluminate.

At our request, Atomergic ground the $BaCO_3$ and the $CaCO_3$ to -325 mesh using a Al_2O_3 mortar and pestle. We dropped the Al impurity specification so that this grinding could be accomplished. Atomergic indicated that they could hold all of the other impurity at their specified limit. The purity was not measured by Atomergic or by us due to the small quantities involved. Samples were, however, sent to Wright-Patterson, per the contract requirements, for chemical analysis. The results of analysis by B. Lamertine indicated that we had an unexpected sulfur contamination, which entered from the BaCO₃.

Sulfur impurity was the basic reason we chose not to use Linde B (Al_2O_3) material (which is an industry standard). After becoming aware of the contamination, we began an independent chemical analysis on the small amount of mixed powder we had left. Table 4.3-3 shows the results of a LECO analysis on lots No. 12 and No. 13 of this program. We added for comparison other lots used in our manufacturing facility. The concentration of sulfur in the aluminate mix (lots 12 and 13) is a factor of 2 to 3 larger than expected. However, it is about a factor of 2 smaller than would be obtained with the standardly used material (compare lots #12 and #13 with lots #9 and #14 in Table 4.3-3). The major difference is the source of the contamination in the usual case (e.g. lot 9) sulfur enters from the Al_2O_3 . In the case of lot 12 and 13 it enters from the BaCO₃. Whether this makes any difference or not is uncertain, however workers⁽¹⁾ have reported two forms of sulfur, electrically active and electrically neutral.

T	AE	3L	E	4	•	3-	1	

BASIC ALLUMINATE COMPONENT RAW MATERIALS

	Atomergic Specification	Chemical Lot #	Amount Obtained
A1 ₂ 0 ₃	99.995%	E5094	l lbs
Ba CO ₃	99.999%	F4151	100 gm
Ca CO ₃	99.999%	F4152	100 gm

TABLE 4.3-2

ALUMINATE MIXES

Aluminate Lot #	Type Molar Ratios*	Chemicals	Chemical Lots	Weights gm
12	(5:3:2)	A12 ⁰ 3	E5094	6.85
		BaC03	F4151	33.10
		CaC0 ₃	F4152	10.05
13	(4:1:1)	Al ₂ 0 ₃	E5094	5.15
		BaCO3	F4151	39.80
		caco ₃	F4152	5.05

*(BaO: CaO: A1203)

TABLE 4.3-3

SULFUR ANALYSIS ON AL	UMINATE LOTS
-----------------------	--------------

. ...

· . •

•

Lot #	Sulfur % by Weight	Remarks
#12	0.016 ± .003	(5:3:2) (This program) before calcining
#13	0.024 ± .003	(4:1:1)(This program)before calcining
#9	0.037 ± .003	Space qualified material using Linde-B (Al ₂ 0 ₃) before calcining
#9	0.042 ± .003	After calcining
#14	0.009 ± .001	Production high purity before calcining
#14	<0.002	After calcining

4.4 M-COATING

The experimental matrix of samples contains both standard tungsten dispenser cathodes and coated tungsten dispenser cathodes. The cathodes that were coated had a $l\mu$,Os(80%):Ru(20%) coating sputtered over the emitter surface of the completely finished tungsten dispenser cathode. Typical coatings are shown in cross section in Figure 4.4-1. The tolerance on the coating thickness is estimated to be plus or minus .25 μ .

The Os(80%):Ru(20%) sputter target is the standard manufacturing target. (A new target was not purchased for this program.) The target is 2 inches in diameter and the sputter process uses argon in a 4 inch cold trapped diffusion pump system.

All of the M-coated cathodes were processed via the procedure described in the Nasa Philips report 1 .

Figure 4.4-2 shows a SEM of the emitter surface of a typical coated and uncoated cathode manufactured for this program.

4.5 SAMPLE PREPARATION

Since the intent is to determine the variations of work function on the process parameters, it was decided to prepare the emitter surface by a deionized H_20 bath rather than the more usual polishing. The use of H_20 to etch off the excess aluminate that remains after the impregnation step has no ill effects on the cathode provided the initial operation brings the cathode up through 500° C slowly and allows all the adsorbed water to deabsorb and be pumped from the test vehicle.

The purpose for using water as a surface cleaning procedure is to avoid the smearing of the surface associated with polishing. It is well known that the effects of polishing are slowly removed by thermal effects but requires

l Philips/Nasa Report, C21219, May 1977, Manufacture of M-type impregnated cathodes.



Figure 4.4-1 1000x photomicrograph of the M-coating on the (a) cathode made from a 5 micron billet and (b) a cathode made from an 11 micron billet.



E4355

SEM of emitter surface of (a) an uncoated cathole and (b) a coated cathode. Figure 4.4-2

4



.

ż

. . . .

÷.,

(a)



(ь)

Figure 4.5-1 (a) shows the results of a 5 minute water etch, the etch depth is 10 microns. (b) is the results of a 10 minute water etch, the etch depth is 30 microns.

upwards of 200 hours. Since our complete runs are considerably shorter than that, we felt that we had to avoid the smearing in order to improve the ability to see the effect of the processing.

The water etch of the cathode was for 5 min while in an ultrasonic bath.

The depth to which the water leached the aluminates from the pores was studied and can be seen in Figure 4.5-1 a and b. Five minutes of etch removed aluminate 10μ below the surface. At 10 minutes of etch the depth of aluminate removed was 30μ below the surface.

4.6 CATHODE GEOMETRY AND IDENTIFICATION

The cathodes fabricated for this study were single tungsten pellets with no other attached parts. Figure 4.6-1 shows the physical layout of the cathodes.

The cathodes were cylinders with a "blackbody hole" in the side. The bottom of the cathode had a notch so that they could be aligned in the heaters. Each cathode that was machined from a given billet was encoded with a specific identification, see Table 4.6-1. These markings identify the powder distribution. On the side of the cathode a letter A, B, C and D were scribed after impregnation so that the aluminate type could be identified and tracked. Impregnation lots A and B were (5:3:2) type and lots C and D were (4:1:1) type.

> TABLE 4.6-1 CATHODE IDENTIFICATION





P.



5.0 CATHODE MEASUREMENT

5.1 CATHODE ACTIVATION

After the P.E.T. system was loaded with six (6) pellets it was pumped down and baked out at 200° C for 2 days. The temperature of all the cathodes was brought up relatively slowly so that water and CO could be deabsorbed. After this was done the cathodes were reset to 1100° C until the final background pressure reached the 9 range (8-9 x 10^{-9}). After the background pressure reaches this range, the cathodes and the bakeout heaters were turned off.

At this point cathode measurements begin. The individual cathodes are raised in temperature to 1200° C, for 1 hour, to complete the activation and then are immediately measured.

5.2 PULSED CATHODE CHARACTERISTICS

The characteristics of the cathodes were measured (one at a time) by measuring the pulsed cathode current vs. applied accelerating voltage at four (4) different temperatures and three different cathode-to-anode spacings.

The pulsed measurements were made at a .01% duty to prevent anode heating.

Figure 5.2-1 shows a typical pulsed curve. This set of curves was taken once with each cathode to ensure that the pulse was flat in the measurement region and to obtain the delay necessary for the digital Hewlett-Packard high speed DVM system voltmeter which was used to measure the pulses. The delay is marked by the dotted line in Figure 5.2-1. The window over which the voltmeter samples the pulse is 0.5 \pm s.

In Figure 5.2-1 the voltage is seen by circles and the current on an arbitrary scale is shown with crosses. Figure 5.2-2 through 5.2-4 shows a typical set





5-2

TJOK



Figure 5.2-2 Current density-voltage-temperature (^OK) characteristic at cathode-to-anode spacing of 0.22 cm.

· · · .









Figure 5.2-4 Current density-voltage-temperature (⁰K) characteristics at cathode-to-anode spacing of 0.08 cm.

of current-voltage-temperature (I-V-T) data. All measurements were made under computer control (using a HP 9825) and the data stored on tape.

All temperatures were measured with a single color, disappearing wire optical pyrometer. The temperatures are true temperatures since they were measured on the "blackbody hole" provided in the cathode. All temperatures were corrected for the sapphire window through which they were measured.

5.3 EVALUATION OF CATHODE CHARACTERISTICS

The pulsed current-voltage temperature and spacing (I-V-T-D) data was analyzed via the technique described in Appendix A using the reciprocal formula

$$J = \frac{J_{SC} J_{TL}}{J_{SC} + J_{TL}}$$
(5.3-1)

to extract J_{TI} from the data, and finally the work function by inverting J_{TI}.

In Figures 5.3-1 to 5.3-6, data for BSM are plotted using the Schottky format. The horizontal axis is the square root of the cathode to anode voltage and the vertical axis is the natural log of the current density.

In Figures 5.3-1 to 5.3-3 the data is shown at one temperature and 3 spacings. The circles are the experimental data, the solid line that fits the circles is the best tit to equation 1 and the dotted line is J_{TI} .

In Figures 5.3-4 to 5.3-6 the same data is shown. In these figures the Schottky technique is used to obtain J_{TL} at V=0. This technique essentially takes the last two or so points and draws a tangent to them which is then extrapolated to V=0. The solid line is the tangent line. The circles are the data points and the dotted line is just a line drawn through the points and is not a fit.

In Appendix A we present a more detailed discussion of these analysis techniques.





Schottky plot of data using equation 1 to fit data.

Figure 5.3-1

Th (CURRENT DENSITY)



Schottky plot of data using equation 1 to fit data.

Figure 5.3-2

•

10 (СПРЯЕИТ DENSITY)

SAMPLE ID.

B5M

-



B5M

SAMPLE ID.





Schottky plot using the Schottky technique to fit the data. Figure 5.3-4


Figure 5.3-5 Schottky plot using the Schottky technique to fit data.

.

ها بالمالية المالية

B5M

SAMPLE ID.

In (CURRENT DENSITY)



B5M

SAMPLE ID.

Schottky plot using the Schottky technique to plot the data. Figure 5.3-6

5-12

5.4 EVAPORATION RATE MEASUREMENTS

Evaporation rate measurements were made by the Becker wire technique. There are a number of subtleties and difficulties with this technique. Care must be taken to identify the correct peak. Usually two peaks can be observed. The first peak is sometimes observed as a shoulder instead of a real peak. The shape of this curve depends upon the temperature of the Becker wire. If care is not taken to measure the first peak, an erroneous result will be obtained. The second peak is much broader, and we now believe it is due to surface diffusion along the Becker wire until the entire hot zone of the wire is coated. The first peak is the real peak of interest and if the Becker wire temperature is too high it does not appear. The data taken and presented in this report was obtained from the first peak. The data is given in Appendix B.

6.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

There were a total of 500 individual current-voltage-temperature-spacing (I-V-T-D) measurements made on the samples in this program. The analysis of the I-V-T-D data was discussed in detail in section 5 and in Appendix A. In this section we present the analysis and workfunctions which were derived from the reciprocal current formula. These results are the basis of all the modeling we will do in section 7.0. The analysis of the data involved extracting a workfunction from each of the I-V-T-D curves. The set of workfunction data thus derived was then statistically analyzed and the result presented in this section.

There was one main selection criterion used to keep or reject work functions for the data set. The criterion to keep data is that

$$J_{TL}/J_{SC} < 1,$$
 (6.1)

at the highest voltage measured for the I-V-T-D curve. This criterion insures that the data contains sufficient amount of temperature limited information so that a reliable workfunction can be obtained. When J_{TL}/J_{SC} l, the I-V-T-D curve contains mostly space charge information with very little cathode information.

6.1 WORKFUNCTION DISTRIBUTION

The workfunction of the data set is summarized by a series of histograms. Each histogram represents a statistical distribution and was evaluated against both the Gamma distribution and the Wiebull distribution.

These two distrubitions were selected for study because we believe that a single ended distribution is necessary for the study of workfunctions. This

comes from the argument that there can be a maximum lowering of the workfunction created by a perfect dipole covered surface. Any disruption of this perfect dipole coverage will only raise the workfunction, never lower it.

The single ended nature of the distribution assumes however that the variations due to dipole arrangement are dominant over the distribution due to measurement errors, which will be gaussian.

The gamma distribution function is considered by many to be the basic distribution of statistics for variable bounded on one side $(0 < \chi < \infty)$

The gamma probability density function is

$$f(x;n,\lambda) = \begin{cases} \frac{\lambda^{n}}{\Gamma(n)} x^{n-1} e^{-\lambda x} x \ge 0 \ \lambda \ge 0, n \ge 0 \\ 0 & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(6.1-1)

where

$$\Gamma(\eta) = \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{\eta-1} e^{-x} dx , \qquad (6.1-2)$$

is the gamma function.

The generalized gamma distribution is obtained by the linear transformation

$$\mathbf{x} \neq \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{\mu} \tag{6.1-3}$$

where μ is the minimum value.

The expected value for the gamma distribution is given by

$$< x > = \mu + \frac{r_1}{\lambda}$$
, (6.1.4)

and the standard deviation is the square root of the variance

$$\eta/\lambda^2$$
. (6.1-5)

The generalized Weibull distribution is also bounded on one end ($0 \le \chi \le \infty$) and is given by

$$f(\mathbf{x},\eta,\sigma,\mu) = \begin{cases} \frac{\eta}{\sigma} \left(\frac{\mathbf{x}-\mu}{\sigma}\right)^{\eta-1} e^{-\left(\frac{\mathbf{x}-\mu}{\sigma}\right)^{\eta}} \\ \frac{\mathbf{x}_{\geq \mu} - \omega < \eta < +\infty}{\sigma < 0} \\ 0 \quad \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(6.1-6)

The expected value is

$$< x > = \mu + \sigma \Gamma \left(\frac{1}{\eta} - 1 \right)$$
 (6.1-7)

and the variance is

$$\sigma^{2}\left\{ \Gamma\left(\frac{2}{\eta}+1\right) - \left(\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{\eta}+1\right)\right)^{2} \right\} \quad . \tag{6.1-8}$$

Both these distribution were fit to the histograms. The gamma distribution gave consistently a lower chi squared χ^2 (i.e., a better fit to the histogram).

We have consequently only given the gamma distribution results.

'n Table 6.1-1 the gamma distribution parameters are summarized for all the samples in the experimental matrix. Table 6.1-2 gives a more coarse analysis where the classified and unclassified powder distribution are not broken out by particle size.

Figure 6.1-1 shows a histogram of all samples combined, both coated and uncoated, S and B types. This data clearly show the lower bounded nature of the distribution. Figure 6.1-2 and 6.1-3 separate out the uncoated and the coated cathodes again combining the S and B types. Figures 6.1-4, 6.1-5 and 6.1-6 are the coated S-type cathodes combining all the power distributions, (i.e., 5, 11, 5U and 11U). In Figures 6.1-7, 6.1-8 and 9.6-9 the coated Etype cathodes are given again combining the 5, 11, 5U and 11U powder distributions. Figures 6.1-10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15 are similar histograms for the uncoated cathodes. The next of 16 figures, Figure 6.1-16 to Figure 6.1-31 break the distribution down to the individual cathodes in the experimental matrix. TABLE 6.1-1

GAMMA DISTRIBUTION PARAMATERS OBTAINED BY FIT TO WORK FUNCTION HISTOGRAMS

	B-1	γPE	(5: 3	: 2)	S-T	Эd У.	(4: 1	: 1)
	ຊ	11	5U	110	ນ	11	50	110
UNCOATED								
MUMINIM	2.13	2.14	2.20	2.08	2.02	2.03	2.04	2.02
AVERAGE	2.20	2.20	2.22	2.12	2.07	2.07	2.08	2.04
STD DEV	0.04	0.06	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.01
COATED								
MUMINIM	1.95	1.91	1.93	2.02	1.89	1.93	1.93	1.94
AVERAGE	2.00	2.05	2.01	2.06	1.98	1.98	1.97	1.98
STD DEV	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	60.03	0.02	0.01

TABLE 6.1-2

GAMMA DISTRIBUTION PARAMETERS OBTAINED BY FIT TO WORK FUNCTION HISTOGRAMS

	В-ТҮРЕ	(5: 3: 2)	S-TYPE	(4: 1: 1)
	CLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED	CLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED
UNCOATED				
MUMINIM	2.15	2.09	2.02	2.03
AVERAGE	2.22	2.13	2.07	2.08
STD DEV	0.07	0.04	0.02	0.02
COATED				
MUMINIM	1.95	1.94	1.92	1.89
AVERAGE	2.04	2.03	1.98	1.97
STD DEV	0.06	0.04	0.03	0.02



ALL CATHODES



.



STNAMARURAAM TO RABMUN

ALL OSRU COATED CATHODES

e E

6-9

٠.

.



L



6-10

DSRU COATED S-TYPE 5 AND 11 MICHON



6-11

المواجع والمواجع ومحاجع والمعارين

. . .

DSRU COATED S-TYPE UNCLASSIFIED



Figure 6.1-6 S-type unclassified, OsRu coated.

ALL OSRU COATED B-TYPE CATHODES



All B-type OsRu coated.

Figure 6.1-7







NUMBER OF MEASUREMENTS





B-type unclassified OsRu coated.

Figure 6.1-9

i

NUMBER OF MEASUREMENTS

ALL TUNGSTEN S-TYPE CATHODES



NUMBER OF MEASUREMENTS

ALL TUNGSTEN S-TYPE 5 AND 11 MICRON



NUMBER OF MEASURABULY

. . .



. .

÷.,

ALL TUNGSTEN S-TYPE UNCLASSIFIED



NUMBER OF MEASURENTS



All B-type tungsten.

Figure 6.1-13

NUMBER OF MEASURABULY

ALL TUNGSTEN B-TYPE CATHODES





B-type classified tungsten.

Figure 6.1-14

NUMBER OF MEASUREMENTS





B-type unclassified, tungsten.

Figure p.1-15

NUMBER OF MEASUREMENTS

ALL TUNGSTEN B-TYPE UNCLASSIFIED



85

Figure 6.1-16 B-type 5 micron tungsten.

6-22



Figure 6.1-17 B-type 11 micron tungsten.

6-23





MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A



Figure 6.1-18 S-type 5 micron tungsten.

125555555

6-24



Figure 6.1-19 S-type 11 micron tungsten.

NEWCUCINEUCUEUCUEUCUEUCUEUCUEUC



1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -





6-26

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~







6-28



Figure 6.1-23 S-type 11 micron OsRu coated.





Figure 6.1-25 B-type 11 micron unclassified tungsten.

6-31


Figure 6.1-26 S-type 5 micron unclassified tungsten.

6-32





6-34



6-35



Figure 6.1-30 S-type 5 micron unclassified OsRu coated.

5.555 (1995) (1995)

6-36



Figure 6.1-31 S-type 11 micron unclassified OsRu coated.

6-37

### 6.2 BARIUM EVAPORATION

Barium evaporation measurements were made on all the powder classified samples in the experiemental matrix. The evaporation rates were measured at several different temperatures and are given in Appendix B. The evaporation rates behaved in the expected way, i.e.,

$$R(T) = R_{o} e^{-\varepsilon/T} . \qquad (6.2-1)$$

Table 6.2-1 gives the values of InRo and the activation energy  $\epsilon$  for each of the classified samples in the matrix.

# 6.3 DEPENDENCE OF WORKFUNCTION ON EVAPORATION RATE

Now that we have the evaporation rate and workfunction parameters for the statistics (see table 6.1-1 and 6.2-1) we can ask how the two are related. Figure 6.3-1 is a plot of the expected workfunction vs the evaporation rate taken at  $1323^{\circ}$ K ( $1060^{\circ}C_{T}$ ). Figure 6.3-2 gives the minimum workfunction obtained from the gamma distribution plotted vs barium evaporation rate.

These two figures suggest that if we could go far enough out in the evaporation rate\* the tungsten and the Osmium:Ruthenium cathode would reach the same value. This is a surprising result. It suggests that the difference between the Tungsten surface cathode and the Osmium Ruthenium surface cathode is just due to the sticking time of the dipoles. We shall test this in the modelling section, (Section 7).

<sup>\*</sup> The use of the term "evaporation" rate is a misnomer. We are not talking of the rate at which barium leaves the surface but the total rate at which barium leaves the cathode pellet (mostly directly from the pores).

TABLE 6.2-1

S. 1. 1. 1. 1.

PARAMETERS OF BARICM EVAPORATION MEASUREMENTS

|            | В-ТҮРЕ | (5: 3: 2) | S-TYPE | (4: 1: 1) |
|------------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------|
|            | Ĵ      | 11        | D      | 11        |
| UNCOATED   |        |           |        |           |
| 1n(R)      | 31.42  | 28.23     | 29.27  | 29.48     |
| ACT.ENERGY | 3.94   | 3.51      | 3.48   | 3.53      |
| COATED     |        |           |        |           |
| 1n(R)      | 37.02  | 33.24     | 26.62  | 27.23     |
| ACT.ENERGY | 4.64   | 4.23      | 3.15   | 3.17      |
|            |        |           |        |           |

267

**ĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸĸ** 



Figure 6.3-1 The expected value of the work function vs barium evaporation rate.



Figure 6.3-2 The minimum value of the work function vs barium evaporation rate.

(C. 2.3)

6-41

If we take the lowest values in Table 6.1-1 we can fit the data to an exponential. We obtain

$$\langle \phi \rangle = 1.98 + 0.29 e^{-11.2R}$$
 (6.3-1)

for tungsten, and

$$\langle \phi \rangle = 1.98 + .04 e^{-16.2R}$$
 (6.3-2)

for Osmium: Ruthenium. R is the evaporation rate in units of  $\mu gm/cm^2/hr$ .

For the minimum workfunction we obtain

$$\phi_{\rm m} = 1.92 + .27 e^{-9.32R} \tag{6.3-3}$$

for tungsten, and

$$p_{m} = 1.92$$
 (6.3-4)

for Osmium:Ruthenium.

#### 6.4 EFFECTS OF IMPURITIES

As we noted in Section 4.3, our attempt to maintain high purity was not entirely successful. Sulfur contamination entered our material from the lot of BaCo<sub>3</sub>. The question we must address is what effect this level of sulfur has on our experiment.

There are a number of independent pieces of information we can add to help draw some conclusions. The first question we must ask is how do our workfunctions compare with other independent measurements. To answer this question we must be careful. Our analysis techniques differ from those reported by others. A study of appendix A will clarify the differences. An industry standard for the workfunction of these kinds of cathodes in terms of a well defined distribution does not exist.

Earlier work at HEDD on close spaced parallel plate diode life tests is available and is useful here because of the similarity of the test vehicle and the same analysis technique was used (i.e., the empirical formula equation A-1). Figure 6.4-1 shows the results of many tests taken over a period of 4 to 5 years that include all manufacturers. Included in the distribution are all tungsten surface cathodes both (4:1:1) and (5:3:2). Table 6.4-1 provides the code to the various manufacturers. Each symbol represents a particular measurement on a given cathode. For example, the letter "F" represents a cathode from Philips.

1227 X 22

6-43



#### **TABLE 6.4-1**

| Manufacturer | 1.      | D.C    | Code   | e gi | ven | in | Fi | gur | e 6 | .4- | -1 |  |
|--------------|---------|--------|--------|------|-----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|----|--|
| HEDD         | 1<br>\$ | 2<br>X | 3<br>S | 4    | 5   | 6  | 7  | 8   | 9   | *   | #  |  |
| Philips      | D       | E      | F      | G    |     |    |    |     |     |     |    |  |
| Spectromat   | N       | P      | R      | S    |     |    |    |     |     |     |    |  |
| Semicon      | н       | I      | J      | K    | L   | M  |    |     |     |     |    |  |
| Komeko       | A       | B      | С      |      |     |    |    |     |     |     |    |  |

# TUNGSTEN SURFACE DISPENSER CATHODES (All data obtained before 1980)

A couple of things should be mentioned about the data given in Figure 6.4-1.

1. The vehicle was a close spaced parallel plate diode with a flip anode, which was moved away from the cathode during the aging period and moved into place for the measurements. The positioning of the anode was by gravity. The vehicle was patterned after the early vehicle used by Philips.

The movable anode did introduce spacing variation from measurement to measurement which our analysis technique was reasonably effective in removing. However, the analysis cannot completely eliminate this scatter.

2. The temperature was measured with an optical pyrometer by sighting on the molybdenum body attached to the cathode pellet. All measurements were made at 1100°C brightness on molybdenum.

The distribution, Figure 6.4-1, shows the same effect as we observed in this program, namely a gamma distribution type behavior, i.e., a sharper leading edge (i.e., at low workfunction) and a larger tail on the high workfunction side. A reasonable gamma function fit to the distribution yields an expected value of 2.13 ev with a standard deviation of 0.04 ev and a minimum value of 2.03 ev. This distribution should be compared with Figure 6.1-2 for all tungsten uncoated cathodes.

The expected value is not significantly different, 2.13 ev versus 2.15 ev. That is within the standard deviation of the smallest distribution. Similarly, the minimum values are effectively the same. The width or standard deviation of the two are considerably different; the standard deviation of this work being 0.1 ev, whereas for the life test it is 0.04 ev.

One major difference that we must keep in mind when comparing Figure 6.1-2 with Figure 6.4-1 is lengths of time that the cathodes were run. In this program the maximum time was 200 hours. In the life test data, Figure 6.4-1, the measurements ranged up to 2000 hours. In the early life test we did notice a tendency for the distribution to narrow with age.

A second piece of data which is more directly related to this program comes from several life tests that were run using the lot 12 aluminate material of this program.

Three M-type cathodes were made from some excess aluminate powder, lot 12, along with three M-type cathodes of lot 9 and four M-type cathodes from lot 14. See Table 4.3-3 for identities. All of this cathodes have accumulated approximately 3000 hours to date.

Figure 6.4-2 shows the average workfunction versus time. This data clearly shows the effects of sulfur, lot 14, being the purest.

The life tests, however, do not show a distinction between lot 12 (this program material) and lot 9 (effectively industry standard material). This suggests that the narrower distribution seen in Figure 6.4-1 might be age related instead of sulfur related.

6-46



101102000

Life test results in a 877HA Pierce gun vehicle.

Figure 6.4-2

MORK FUNCTION - ev

07,040

010000

6-47

Several other observations must be made:

- We should observe that all three lots (i.e. 9, 12 and 14) yielded effectively the same results for the first couple of hundred hours of their life; deviation becoming apparent only after aging.
- 2. The difference in the value of the workfunction enters because of the totally different geometry of the device. In this work and the early life test results of Figure 6.4-1, the vehicles were close spaced parallel plate diodes. In the life test results, given in Figure 6.4-2, the vehicles are Pierce gun geometry (877 HA devices). The empirical formula (equation A-1) was applied in all cases, however, it is not correctly applied in the Pierce gun cases (i.e., the geometric factors are not correctly accounted for). This leads to a systematic discrepancy in the value of the workfunctions.

222222222

### 7.0 THEORETICAL MODELING OF THE DISPENSER CATHODE

In this section we shall undertake to construct one of possibly many models for the dispenser cathode. The modeling that we will undertake here, we believe is consistent with the data taken in this program.

When one undertakes the task to construct a model based primarily on one set of data, it must be kept firmly in mind that the attempt is no more or no less than a way of summarizing that set of data into a simpler set of mathematical equations.

The mathematical equations of the model may be simply mathematical fits to data without underlying physical support, or we might give some physical arguments which provide form to the equations (e.g., many processes in thermo-dynamics behave via  $e^{-\epsilon/T}$ , so we might guess this form when temperature effects are considered).

The models presented here must be viewed more as engineering constructs than as basic physical models.

With these ideas in mind we shall begin to fold the data set into some mathematical forms, ending up with equations that are consistent with the data set and yielding the ability to interpolate within that set.

Attempts to extrapolate these equations beyond the bounds of the data set are very risky.

More rigorous first principle models are not yet possible with the present understanding and the present data. Perhaps as data becomes available from surface analysis and other techniques that yield atomic information, a more rigorous physical theory can be generated.

In the models developed in this section we will make the assumption that the workfunction is a dependent variable, derivable from other effects such as barium evaporation rate and dependent upon such effects as the surface sticking time of the dipoles on the emitter surface.

Before we can begin to construct such a model we must discuss several preliminary effects.

## 7.1 EVALUATION OF EMISSION CURRENT

The data that was taken in this program was current-voltage-temperature-spacing (I-V-T-D) measurements. In order to extract the cathode properties from these measurements, we must assume some model of how the measurable parameters (i.e., I-V-T and D) vary with the more fundamental properties of the cathode (i.e., its workfunction). In Appendix A we have discussed several ways of evaluating the I-V-T-D data and the advantages and disadvantages of each.

In the modelling that we will construct in this section we will assure that the I-V-T-D curves can be sufficiently described by

$$\frac{1}{J} = \frac{1}{J_{SC}} + \frac{1}{J_{TL}}$$
(7.1-1)

where

$$J_{SC} = \frac{2.33 \times 10^{-6}}{d^2} v^{3/2}$$
(7.1-2)

$$J_{TL} = AT^{2} e^{-11600\phi/T} e^{4.4\sqrt{V/d}/T} . \qquad (7.1-3)$$

All of the cathode information is obtained in the workfunction  $\phi$  and the Richardson constant A.

In  $J_{TL}$  we assume that  $\phi$  is an average workfunction, averaged over the emitter surface. Similarly, for the Richardson constant A. The expression for  $J_{TL}$  is an average value  $\langle J_{TL} \rangle$  so that equation 7.1.4 becomes

$$\frac{1}{J} = \frac{1}{J_{SC}} + \frac{1}{\langle J_{TL} \rangle} \quad . \tag{7.1-4}$$

All real cathodes can be expected to have some patchiness in the workfunction. We will now show that it is reasonable to take

$$\left\langle J_{TI} \right\rangle = J_{TI} \quad (\langle \phi \rangle) \tag{7.1-5}$$

where  $\langle \phi \rangle$  is the average of the workfunction over the surface of the cathode, i.e.,

 $\langle \phi \rangle = \iint \phi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \, d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{y} / \iint d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{y}$  (7.1-6)

In order to show that equation 7.1.5 is reasonable, we must make some assumptions about the workfunction distribution over the surface. We will assume that we can write, once we know the distribution  $f(\phi)$ , that

and

$$\langle \phi \rangle = \int_{0}^{\infty} f(\phi) \phi d\phi$$
 (7.1-7)

where

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} f(\phi) d\phi = 1 \qquad (7.1-8)$$

As we discussed in section 6 we should expect a distribution function that is bounded from below. The gamma distribution we found best describes our experimental results, so we will use the same gamma distribution to demonstrate that equation 7.1.5 is reasonable.

With this assumption we can write the average temperature limit current density by

$$\langle J_{TL} \rangle = \int_{0}^{\infty} f(\phi) J_{TL}(\phi) d\phi$$
 (7.1-9)

Where  $J_{TL}(\phi)$  is given by equation 7.1.3 and  $f(\phi)$  satisfies the integral in equation 7.1.8.

Now if we insert the generalized gamma distribution given in section 6, equation 6.1.1 into equation 7.1.9 we get

$$\langle J_{TL} \rangle = \frac{\lambda^{T_{i}}}{\Gamma(r_{i})} \int_{0}^{\infty} (\phi - \phi_{m})^{r_{i}-1} e^{-\lambda(\phi - \gamma_{m})} J_{TL}(\phi) d\phi$$
 (7.1-10)

7-4

where  $\phi_{m}$  is the minimum workfunction for the particular cathode type. Substituting equation 7.1.3 we can easily show that

$$\langle J_{TL} \rangle = J_{TL} (\phi_m) \frac{\lambda^{\eta}}{\Gamma(\eta)} \int_{0}^{\infty} (\phi - \phi_m)^{\eta - 1} e^{-(\lambda + \frac{11600}{T})(\phi - \phi_m)} d\phi$$
 (7.1-11)

If we now use the relationship (see equation 6.1.4),

$$<\phi> = \phi_{m} + n/\lambda$$
, (7.1-12)

20000

12222223 (120000002) (12000000

we can show that

$$\langle J_{TL} \rangle = J_{TL} (\langle \phi \rangle) \left( 1 - \frac{11600}{\lambda' T} \right)^{\eta} e \left( \frac{11600}{T\lambda'} \right)^{\eta}$$
 (7.1-13)

where

$$\lambda' = \lambda + \frac{11600}{T}$$
 (7.1-14)

If we take the effective Richardson constant to be

$$A^{*} = 120 \ e \ \frac{11600 \eta}{\lambda' T} \left(1 - \frac{11600}{\lambda' T}\right)^{\eta}$$
(7.1-15)

we arrive at our result

$$\langle J_{TL} (\phi) \rangle = J_{TL} (\langle \phi \rangle) .$$
 (7.1-16)

ないというない

1000 Star

Effectively the same result can be obtained with the Weibull or Guassian distributions. Any reasonably sharply peaked distribution will give the same ...sult.

The purpose for going through this argument is to justify the use of  $\langle \phi \rangle$  instead of having to work with the spacial integral

$$\langle J_{TL} \rangle = \iint J_{TL}(x, y) dxdy / \iint dxdy$$
 (7.1-17)

In an aging model for dispenser cathodes that we developed in the past,<sup>1</sup> we used this argument implicitly by writing down the linearized workfunction with surface coverage

$$\phi(\theta) = \phi_{w} (1 - \theta) + \phi_{sys} \theta. \qquad (7.1-18)$$

1 R. T. Longo, IEDM, Washington 1978, p. 152.

In the modeling developed here we will write down a more realistic function for  $\phi(\theta)$  which is really an average workfunction, averaged over the surface.

### 7.2 SURFACE COVERAGE WORKFUNCTION MODEL

In this model we will assume that the surface can be described by the average surface dipole P which is a function of  $\theta$ .

The coverage  $\theta$  is a statistical variable which can be defined most easily by use of a schematic picture, see Figure 7.2-1.

Figure 7.2-1(a) shows a perfectly clean surface in this case  $\theta = 0$ . The dipole responsible for the workfunction is just the uniform outer layer of the substitute material.

As the number of atoms or molecules on the surface increases, figure 7.2-1(b) shows a typical situation, the average dipole on the surface can be thought of as some combination of the base substrate dipole and the addon atom or molecule dipole.

It is clear from this picture that the surface condition may be changed considerably from a microscopic viewpoint, without changing  $\theta$ .

This indicates the macroscopic, statistical nature of  $\theta$ . Another way of looking at  $\theta$  is that it is related to the ratio of the number of addon atoms, to sites (i.e.,  $\theta \sim N_a/N_s$ ), but it does not depend upon which sites are occupied or unoccupied. Figure 7.2-1(c) shows the system when  $\theta = 1$ . The important concept here is that even though the macroscopic variable  $\theta$ , indicates one effective monolay, patches of the base substrate are still exposed and still influence the average surface dipole. As  $\theta$  increases beyond 1, as seen in Figure 7.2-1(d), the patches of base substrate get smaller and smaller, but  $\theta$ 

7-7



Figure 7.2-1 Schematic microscopic view of dipole coated surface for different value of the microscopic variable  $\theta$ .

must become fairly large before the substrate's influence becomes negligible. A final comment on the "picture" we have of  $\theta$ . Even though we sketched multiple layers of Ba in Figure 7.2-1, this is only to indicate the number of atoms we need to supply to the surface to produce a given  $\theta$ . In fact the multiple layers would evaporate so fast as to be nonexistent.

Now that we have defined our concept of  $\theta$ , let us now discuss the surface dipoles. With a bare surface (Figure 7.2-la) the outer layer of atoms provide a dipole layer  $P_M$  (where M stands for metal). This is the sum of the diode at each site divided by the number of sites N\_, i.e.,

$$P_{M} = \frac{1}{N_{S}} \sum_{i} P_{i}$$
 (7.2-1)

NAMES OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIPTION

Similarly we will argue that when  $\theta \rightarrow \infty$  all sites are covered, and from the outside world, the surface looks like pure Barium metal surface (in our case). The dipole of that surface is  $P_{R_B}$ .

Now our model for how the net dipole depends on  $\theta$  can be defined. This model envisions that each dipole component varies with respect to  $\theta$  by the simple rate equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}P_{\mathrm{M}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} = -\alpha P_{\mathrm{M}}$$
(7.2-2)

$$\frac{dP_{Ba}}{d\theta} = -\beta \left( P_{Ba} - P_{Ba}(\infty) \right)$$
(7.2-3)

(i.e., the rate at which the change in the dipole takes place depends upon the value of the dipole, which in some sense is related to how many of a given dipole are present. The parameters  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are effectively the rates with respect to  $\theta$ .

The total average dipole is then

$$P(\theta) = P_{M}(\theta) + P_{R_{2}}(\theta) . \qquad (7.2-4)$$

Finally we argue that the dipole surface layer, which is the value of  $P(\theta)$ , is the energy to move an electron across the surface dipole and therefore is the same as the workfunction, i.e.,

$$\phi(\theta) = \langle \phi_{M}(\theta) \rangle + \langle \phi_{Ba}(\theta) \rangle . \qquad (7.2-5)$$

The solution of these two equations (equations 7.2-2 and 7.2-3) are simply

$$P_{M}(\theta) = P_{M}(0) e^{-\alpha \theta}$$
(7.2-6)

and

$$P_{Ba}(\theta) = P_{Ba}(\infty) (1 - e^{-\beta \theta})$$
 (7.2-7)

Writing these in terms of workfunctions we get

.

$$\phi(\theta) = \phi_{M} e^{-\alpha \theta} + \phi_{Ba} (1 - e^{-\beta \theta}) . \qquad (7.2-8)$$

Now, if we assume that at  $\theta = \theta_m$  (where  $\theta_m$  is the optimum coverage, not necessarily one monolayer), the net workfunction has a minimum, and we can place conditions on the rates  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ .

Differentiating equation 7.2-8 and setting the result to zero, (i.e.  $\phi'(\theta_m) = o$ ) we get

$$\left[\Gamma\left(\frac{\phi_{M}}{\phi_{Ba}}\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\Gamma}} = e^{-\beta\theta}m, \qquad (7.2-9)$$

where  $\Gamma = \alpha/\beta$ , the ratio of the relative covering rates.

We can then write an equation for the minimum workfunction  $\phi$  ( $\theta_m$ ) =  $\phi_m$ ,

$$\phi_{\rm m} = \phi_{\rm M} \left( \Gamma \frac{\phi_{\rm M}}{\phi_{\rm Ba}} \right)^{\frac{\Gamma}{1-\Gamma}} + \phi_{\rm Ba} \left( 1 - \left( \Gamma \frac{\phi_{\rm M}}{\phi_{\rm Ba}} \right)^{\frac{1}{1-\Gamma}} \right)$$
(7.2-10)

The minimum workfunction is determined by one parameter,  $\Gamma$  , since  $\phi_{M}$  and  $\phi_{Ba}$  are known,

$$\phi_{M} = \phi_{tungsten} = 4.5 \text{ ev},$$
  
 $\phi_{Ba} = 2.55 \text{ ev}.$ 

If we know  $\phi_{m}$ , then we can determine  $\Gamma$ . Figure 7.2-2 is a plot of  $\phi_{m}$  vs  $\Gamma$ . If we take  $\phi_{m} = 1.98$  ev, we find that  $\Gamma = 2.50$  (for  $\phi_{M} = 4.5$  ev and  $\phi_{Ba} = 2.55$  ev).

Once we know  $\Gamma$  we have completely determined  $\phi$  (0). If we take  $\phi = \theta / \theta$  m we can write

$$\phi(0) = \phi_{M} \left( \Gamma \frac{\phi_{M}}{\phi_{Ba}} \right)^{\frac{\Gamma O}{1 - \Gamma}} + \phi_{Ba} \left( 1 - \left( \Gamma \frac{\phi_{M}}{\phi_{Ba}} \right)^{\frac{O}{1 - \Gamma}} \right).$$
(7.2-11)

%

Figure 7.2-3 shows  $\phi(\Theta)$  vs ( $\Theta$ ), for the above condition.

In what follows, we shall use this to extract some further information from our work function data set. But before we can do that we must model the barium evaporation rate.



7-13



ワンンへん

127.25.171

MAX ADS

The barium evaporation rate data was summarized in section 6.2, Table 6.2-1. It is dependent upon the billet powder size, the effects of coatings and the aluminate mix. Let us define several parameters:

- 1.  $r_g$  is the average tungsten particle grain radius (i.e.  $r_g = 5$  or 11 micron).
- Let M = 0 for a tungsten surface and M = 1 for an OsRu coated surface.
- 3. F is the molar fraction of barium oxide in the aluminate F = .666 for (4: 1: 1) F = 0.5 for the (5: 3: 2)

(e.g., for the 4:1:1 we have 4 + 1 + 1 = 6. Then the fraction of barium F = 4/6 = .666).

With these variables we can summarize the parameters in Table 6.2-1 by the two mathematical equations,

$$\ln R_0 = (49.2 - 2.2 r_g + 33.5 M - 0.6 r_g M)$$
(7.3-1)  
- (30.1 - 3.4 r\_g + 54.8 M - 1.0 r\_g M) F

いたなない

and

$$\varepsilon$$
 = 6.89 + 3.66 M - 0.26 r<sub>g</sub> - 0.033 r<sub>p</sub>M  
- (5.18 + 5.96 M - 0.37 r<sub>p</sub> - 0.066 r<sub>p</sub>M) F (7.3-2)

With these two equations we can now interpolate within the data set. The coefficient R must be multiplied by  $2.17 \times 10^{11}$  to obtain units of atoms/cm<sup>2</sup> sec.

### 7.4 MODELING SURFACE COVERAGE WITH BARIUM EVAPORATION RATE

In section 6 we commented that the data suggested that the difference between the tungsten and the OsRu coated surfaces is due to the sticking time of the dipoles.

In the following we will attempt to extract a sticking time from the data. It turns out that we can determine the sticking time from the data by using the workfunction vs coverage model previously developed to determine  $\bigcirc$  from the workfunction  $\phi$ . The surface coverage  $\bigcirc$  is determined by two effects: 1) surface diffusion of dipoles out of the pores and along the surface and 2) backscattering of barium from the closely spaced anode. We can write

$$\Theta = \Theta_0 + \tau_A RG(d) , \qquad (7.4-1)$$

where R is the barium evaporation rate from the cathode and  $A_A$  is the average monolayer sticking time of barium on the anode (this is not the sticking time we are interested in).

G(d) is a geometric factor which is a function of the cathode to anode distance d. We shall develop G(d) below.

The intercept  $\bigcirc_{O}$  is the value of the coverage we wish to determine. It is due to surface diffusion and is primarily related to the average monolayer sticking time of barium dipoles on the surface (i.e., with the anode at infinity).

Since all the workfunction measurements were made at different cathode to anode spacings, d, we will attempt to determine  $\int_{0}^{0}$  from a plot vs. G(d). First we must develop G(d).

#### 7.4.1 Geometric Factor

The flux of barium back to the cathode can be calculated from first principles. The results are very complicated, however. We shall use a much simpler argument to determine a relationship for G(d). Figure 7.4-1 shows the geometry. In this very simplified argument we will assume that an atom that strikes  $S_r$  is reflected back to the cathode. An atom that passes through the imaginary surface of area  $S_e$  escapes and does not reflect back to the cathode. With this idea in mind, we can say that the probability of an atom leaving the cathode and striking  $S_r$ , then leaving  $S_r$ , and returning to the cathode of area  $A_c$  is given by

$$P = \left(\frac{S}{S}\right) \left(\frac{A_c}{S}\right)$$
(7.4-2)

where  $S = S_r + S_e$ , the total surface area that an atom can impinge on once leaving the cathode. The probability that a particular atom undergoes n reflections before passing through  $S_e$  and is lost is just n products

$$P_{n} = \left[ \left(\frac{S}{r}\right) \left(\frac{A}{c}\right) \right]^{t} \qquad (7.4-3a)$$

The total flux of atoms we take as the sum of the contributions from all orders of reflections is

$$F = R \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{s_r A_c}{s^2}\right)^{\eta}$$
(7.4-3b)

which sums to

$$F = \frac{RS_rA_c}{S^2 - S_rA_c} , \qquad (7.4-4)$$





Figure 7.4-1 Geometry used to calculate the geometric factor.  $S_r$  is the reflection area.  $S_e$  is the escape area and  $A_c$  is the cathode area.

222222

K5555555

The geometric factor is therefore

$$G(d) = \frac{S_r A_c}{s^2 - S_r A_c}$$
 (7.4-5)

The various areas can now easily be determined from the simple geometry given in figure 7.4-1. The result is

$$G(d) = \frac{A_{c}^{2}}{2d \left[ \sqrt{4\pi A_{c}} + 2\pi d \right]}, \qquad (7.4-6)$$

where we have taken  $A_{c} = S_{r}$ .

### 7.4.2 Analysis of data with surface coverage model

The next step is to use the surface coverage model to invert  $\phi$  (0) to obtain  $\Theta$ . This can be done in two ways: 1) for  $\Theta < 1$  and 2) for  $\Theta > 1$ .

It turns out that all of our data is consistent with 0 < 1. When we try to use 0 > 1 we obtain a negative  $\tau_A$  i.e., the slope of the spacing dependence is negative which is not physical. The analysis that follows then is for 0 < 1in all cases. This is done for each work function and a corresponding 0 is obtained.

We now separate the total data set into two subsets: 1) all tungsten surface cathodes and 2) all OsRu coated cathodes.

We then divide the temperature interval of our experiment (which ranges from 1200 K to 1400 K) into  $20^{\circ}$  K intervals.

With the computer we sort all data of each subset (W and Os:Ru) into the  $20^{\circ}$  K intervals. The values of 0 are then plotted versus the geometric factor times the evaporation rate, RG(d), for each temperature interval. The slope of the curves gives  $\tau_A$  (one for each temperature interval of  $20^{\circ}$  K). The slopes result in positive values for the average monolayer sticking time on the anode and are the same for both the tungsten and Osmium:Ruthenium cathodes. As expected, they are:

7-19
$$(\tau_A)_W = 0.51 \pm 0.45 \text{ sec/monolayer}$$

and

$$(\tau_{A})_{O_{S}R_{u}} = 0.51 \pm 0.73 \text{ sec/monolayer.}$$
 (7.4-7)

The fact that we get the same result for both subsets is exactly what we expect because the slope is a property of the Molybdenum anode and not a property of the cathode.

The intercept  $\Theta$  on the other hand is dependent on the cathode surface. The average values for all temperatures are

 $(0_0)_W = 0.58 \pm 0.03$  (7.4-8)  $(0_0)_{0_s R_u} = 0.68 \pm 0.03$ .

and

These values also show a temperature dependence which can be seen in figure 7.4-2.

Here we plotted the natural log of  $\Theta \circ$  versus 1/T which is the usual way to plot a temperature dependent effect. The data are reasonable straight lines:

 $(\ln c_0)_W = \frac{1120}{T} - 1.42$ 

(7.4 - 9)

Water Coole

196622222

 $(\ln \Theta_0)_{O_S R_U} = \frac{1010}{T} - 1.17$ .

Both the tungsten surface and the Osmium:Ruthenium surface have approximately the same slope, but are offset from each other.



14444

STREET, STREET

2222220 1222-2222

12222227741 [EES

Figure 7.4-2 Temperature dependence of diffusional surface coverage.

7-21

The surface coverage due to diffusion, 00, is related to the evaporation rate R and the average monolayer sticking time  $\tau$  by

$$\Theta_0 = \tau R$$
 (7.4–10)

We will write this as

$$0_0 = \tau_0 R_0 e^{-\tau_0 R_0}$$
 (7.4-11)

Table 7.4-1 summarizes the parameters. It must be noted that the accuracy with which we can determine these parameters is poor. However, it must be noted that  $\epsilon_R^{<\epsilon_\tau}$  is consistent with life test data. This data analysis yields an average monolayer sticking time for barium of about a factor of 2 longer for the Osmium:Ruthenium surface then for a tungsten surface. Table 7.4-2 gives the average monolayer sticking times for different temperatures.

#### 7.5 SUMMARIZING THE MODEL

In this model the objective is to determine the average cathode workfunction from more primitive quantities. We can write the average workfunction in summary as

$$\phi = \phi(C(\tau(M,T), R(r_g, M, F, T))) . \qquad (7.5-1)$$

The coverage factor

$$0 = 0 (\tau, R)$$
 (7.5-2)

is a function of the average monolayer sticking time of the dipoles on the surface and the evaporation rate of barium from the porous matrix. In turn, the average monolayer sticking time is a function of temperature  $T({}^{O}K)$  and the kind of substrate surface (tungsten or Osmium:Ruthenium).

| TABLE 2 | 7.4-1 |
|---------|-------|
|---------|-------|

# SUMMARY OF SURFACE COVERAGE PARAMETERS

|                                  | $\frac{\epsilon_{R}}{R}$ (ev) | $\epsilon_{\tau}$ (ev) | $R_0\left(\frac{\text{monolayer}}{\text{cm}^2 \text{ sec}}\right)$ | $\tau_0 \left( \frac{\sec/}{\text{monolayer}} \right)$ |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------|
| Tungsten<br>Osmium:<br>Ruthenium | 3.6<br>3.8                    | 3.7<br>3.9             | $4.9 \times 10^8$<br>2.0 x 10 <sup>9</sup>                         | 9.6 x $10^{-9}$<br>3.1 x $10^{-9}$                     |

| TA | BL.   | F.       | 7.  | 4- | -2  |
|----|-------|----------|-----|----|-----|
|    | L L I | <b>.</b> | / . |    | · 🛻 |

# AVERAGE MONOLAYER STICKING TIMES

| T°K  | Tungsten<br>τ (sec) | Osmium:Ruthenium<br>τ (sec) |
|------|---------------------|-----------------------------|
| 1200 | $3.3 \times 10^7$   | $7.5 \times 10^{7}$         |
| 1300 | $2.2 \times 10^6$   | $4.1 \times 10^{6}$         |
| 1400 | $2.0 \times 10^5$   | $3.3 \times 10^5$           |

100 YOUNG 

The evaporation rate we determined to be a function of the partial grain size, r, in microns and the type of surface (M = 1 for Osmium:Ruthenium and M = 0for tungsten), the relative fraction of barium in the aluminate, F, and the temperature. Once the workfunction is determined from the properties at the surface, porous matrix and aluminate, it can be folded into the emission current density given by

$$\frac{1}{J} = \frac{1}{J_{SC}} + \frac{1}{J_{TL}} , \qquad (7.5-3)$$

to determine the magnitude of current emission in a particular device.

#### 7.6 FINAL REMARKS

The modeling we have developed here is highly empirical and leaves a great deal to be desired from the purist. We make no claims about the physical reality of the model. It has been developed primarily to aid the experimentalist evaluate data, a "straw man" in effect to poke holes at with the hope that a more realistic and fundamental model will evolve.

#### 8.0 CONCLUDING REMARKS

We can conclude from this study that, given the condition and level of impurities in the cathodes, the variations in the manufacturing process parameters reveal that:

- The coating has the largest effect on the reduction of the cathode work function and little effect on the evaporation rate of barium from the cathode. This is not a surprising result and is in keeping with practical observations of TWT manufacturers.
- 2. The aluminate type (i.e. the amount of barium in the aluminate) has a substantial effect on both the work function and evaporation rate. Again, this is not an unexpected result from practical observations of TWT manufacturing. The S-type or (4:1:1) has always been easier to work with in early life, but can present problems with excess Ba evaporation contaminating the insulators.
- 3. The porosity of the billet appears to have very little effect on the work function or the evaporation rate of barium from the cathode. There has not been much emphasis among the manufacturers of dispenser cathode to hold a tight tolerance on the porosity of the billet so there has not been much practical experience with this parameter.

In general the more barium that arrives at the emitter surface per unit time the more active the cathode, (i.e. the lower the work function). The data from this program suggests the somewhat surprising results that if the evaporation rate is high enough the uncoated tungsten cathode approaches that of the coated Osmium: Ruthenium coated cathode.

We must remember that all of these measurements are on very young cathodes. The maximum age of any cathode studied was not more than 200 hrs, (and careful aging records on the cathodes were not kept). In effect we have only defined the initial conditions for the dispenser cathode based on the various process parameters.

8-1

The attempt to keep the material as pure as possible appears not to have been as successful as hoped. The higher then expected sulfur content of these cathodes, first noticed by B. Lamertine, undoubtedly had some effect on the values obtained for the workfunction as we discussed in Section 6.4. We believe, however, that the impurity levels represent a relatively constant background with little variation from cathode to cathode and therefore do not alter the basic conclusions drawn about the effects of the manufacturing process and material parameters. (Furthermore, our measurements indicate that the level of the main impurity sulfur is slightly lower than what is normally found in production dispenser cathodes throughout the industry.)

Modeling the dispenser cathode is a much more difficult task. To arrive at a true physical model we have to await the results of the surface study work being carried out at Wright-Patterson and elsewhere. We included some semi-empirical model suggestions in Section 7. The modeling will have to remain empirical until a more detailed atomic picture of the surface emerges.

#### 8.1 FURTHER WORK

At this time funding has been exhausted. The results of this program suggest that the coatings and the aluminates should be further investigated. Alloy coatings should be investigated to find those that maximize the barium sticking time. The generation rate of barium from the aluminates should also be studied.

#### 8.2 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank Mr. C.R. Harrison for his technical support. Thanks also to Mr. G. Allaria, Mr. M. Barillas and Mr. D. Block for their efforts in the material and sample preparation. We extend thanks also to Mr. L. Dawson, a summer student, for taking a considerable amount of P.E.T. data.

8-2

## APPENDIX A

Any experimental study of thermionic emitters relies on some way to extract the cathode's work function from the measured cathode current. This is not trivial. The simplest way to obtain the work function is to lower the temperature of the emitter or to increase the field between the cathode and anode until the cathode is so temperature limited that the simple Schottky technique can be used.

There are several major objections with this approach:

- Temperatures at which the Schottky technique becomes useable are considerably below the temperature range of application. The result therefore has to be extrapolated into the region of practical application. This introduces considerable uncertainty.
- 2. At normal operating temperatures the emission current is so large that realistic fields strengths will not be able to sweep out all of the space charge. Furthermore, extraneous heating of the entire system affects outgassing and disrupts the cathode work function.

These are serious objections and must be carefully considered. The question we must ask ourselves is how do we obtain a reasonably accurate measure of the cathode's work function under normal (or practical) operating conditions. The answer to this question may be different for each worker depending upon the equipment available.

The ability to effectively remove the influence of space charge from the J-V-T measurements is very important if reliable repeatable results are to be obtained. If the space charge is not correctly accounted for, the resulting workfunction will have an anomalously large geometry dependence (i.e., cathode to anode spacing dependence). This will be clearly shown below. At the present time there does not exist an answer that can be developed from basic physical principles. In this effort we rely upon an empirical relationship which we have found to be a reasonably good representation of the observed current at any voltage or temperature. The empirical relationship is

$$\frac{1}{J} = \frac{1}{J_{SC}} + \frac{1}{J_{TL}}$$
 (A-1)

$$J_{SC} = \frac{2.33 \times 10^{-6}}{d^2} V^{3/2}$$
 (A-2)

$$J_{TL} = AT^2 e^{-11600\phi/T} e^{4.4\sqrt{V/d}/T}$$
 (A-3)

This model was obtained by a principle we call asymototic modeling. This principle suggests that we determine from basic physical principles the behavior of a system in asymototic limits. In this case  $J_{SC}$  and  $J_{TL}$  are well known expressions and we view them as asymototes. We then look for a simple analytical expression that approaches the appropriate asymototes. The result is equation A-1.

The results that are obtained from this expression have some nice properties:

1. The resulting work function has less spacing dependence than it does when obtained by the Schottky technique. This can be easily seen by comparing the zero voltage intercept in figures A-1 through A-6. Figure A-1, A-2 and A-3 use the empirical equation, equation A1, to obtain  $J_{TL}$ . In Figures A-4, A-5 and A-6 the standard Schottky technique is used to obtain  $J_{TL}$ .



SAMPLE ID.

(スペイ・イ・・)

1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.

LANGERS PRESS, AND SUBJECT

the spacing is .22 cm.

10 (CURRENT DENSITY)



X X JA BUT AND

Solid line is the receiprocal formula, the dotted line is  ${\rm J}_{\rm TL},$ spacing is .lɔ̃ cm. Figure A-2

Cal to tat

A-4



SAMPLE ID.



N N

A-5



SAMPLE ID.

Figure A-4 Schottky analysis solid line is  $J_{\rm TL}$  , spacing .22 cm.

12

3

12421031 (1222222) (1222222)

A-6



SAMPLE ID.

201

**MARKED STATES** 

(2222)2222()

12122 CURS

The (CURRENT DENSITY)

A-7



SAMPLE ID.

Schottky analysis solid line is  $\mathrm{J}_{\mathrm{TL}}$  , spacing is .08 cm. Figure A-6

A-8

It is clear from these figures that as the spacing increases the space charge effects become more predominant at higher voltages. The empirical expression, equation A-1 compensates well for the space charge. Figures A-1 to A-3 show the saturated current density, which is the zero voltage intercept (the dotted line), does not vary much as the spacing is changed. On the other hand, when analyzing the data with the so called standard Schottky technique of drawing a tangent to the highest available voltage points, the zero voltage intercept obtained is very spacing dependent, see Figures A-4 to A-6. The effects of spacing must be carefully evaluated by each worker and is dependent upon the equipment available for the measurements. Clearly, if one could take the applied voltage higher, the correct asymotote is approached. Furthermore, as the spacings get smaller the results obtained by both techniques merge.

- 2. The data fits a universal curve generated from equation Al but does not fit the equivalent Child-Schottky universal curve. This can be seen from figure A7. The solid line is the universal curve obtained from equation Al, the dotted line (with slope 1) is the Child-Schottky universal curve. It is obvious from figure A7 that the data is described by the empirical express and is not described by the Child-Schottky universal curve. The universal curves are simply obtained as follows:
  - 1. Child-Schottky case:

$$J = \begin{cases} J_{SC} & \text{for } J_{SC} \leq J_{TL} \\ \\ J_{TL} & \text{for } J_{SC} \geq J_{TL} \end{cases}$$
(A-4)

A-9

The universal curve is obtained by plotting  $J/J_{TL}$  versus  $J_{SC}/J_{TL}$ . It is a line of slope = 1 until saturation; then it is a constant = 1 thereafter.

2. The empirical universal curve case: equation A-1 yields

$$J/J_{TL} = \frac{(J_{SC}/J_{TL})}{1 + (J_{SC}/J_{TL})}, \qquad (A-5)$$

and is obtained by plotting

As a result, the workfunctions presented in this work are obtained by extracting  $J_{TL}$  from the empirical equation, equation A-1.

It is clear from figure A-7 that equation A-5 is a better representation of the data.





A-11

# APPENDIX B

## BARIUM EVAPORATION DATA

Barium Evaporation Data Figures B-1 to B-8 give the natural log of the times to peak in hours versus the reciprocal temperature in  ${}^{O}K$ .

The units of ugm/cm<sup>2</sup>/hr are obtained by multiplying  $1/\tau$  by 0.18.



Ad Sela

41. 149. Sal.

Figure B-1 B-type 5 micron tungsten.

CACK CACK CACK



「ふしたあれる」 とうたかない いないないない

とうないないない いちば かくてい コード・シーン いちょう

Figure B-2 B-type 5 micron OsRu coated.

10-1, C-1-1



ELECTRON REPERTING TO





Statest states assessed as a statest

Contract and

**Networks** 

Sec. Set

CANANA CONTRACTOR

Figure B-4 B-type 11 micron OsRu coated.



てんないという



B-6



Figure B-6 S-type 5 micron OsRu coated.

121210-03010



いいりん しんじん

A COUNTER .

SPACED I

ちんのようない

Figure B-7 S-type 11 micron tungsten.



Figure B-8 S-type 11 micron OsRu coated.

